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TOWARDS THE
RAILWAY OF
THE FUTURE

Mantena is helping to shape the
railway of the future with innovation,
digitisation and eptimisation
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About Mantena

THIS IS MANTENA

History

Mantena was established in 2001 as a
whally-owned subsidiary of Norwegian
State Railways (NSB AS). Mantena
Swverige AB was established as a
subsidiary of Mantena AS in 2007.

As part of the Norwegian railway reform,
Mantena was transferred from NSB

to the Norwegian State (Ministry of
Transport and Communications) in April
2017. The Ministry of Trade, Industry and
Fisheries took over the responsibility for
administering the State's holding frem 1
January 2020.

Mantena AS is the parent company

of the Mantena Group; along with the
business in Norway, this comprises
Mantena Sverige AB, Mantena Finland
QY and Mantena Danmark A/S.

Our business

Mantena is one of the largest providers
of maintenance services Tor railway
vehicles and equipment in the Nordic
region. Mantena provides timely
maintenance services tailored to the
rail sector of today and tomorrow,
while continuing a long tradition of rail
operation.

Qur expertise ranges from the
largest and heaviest locomotives
to the smallest and most advanced
components.

Mantena carries out train maintenance
during breaks in service at workshops
in Norway and Sweden and also

Norway. Mantena handles maintenance
activities in Sweden through its
subsidiary Mantena Sverige AB.

Location

Mantena's head office is at Oslo
Central Station, while maintenance

is distributed across locations in
Norway and Sweden. The company

is strategically located to meet the
need for maintenance where it is most
appropriate.

End-to-end deliveries

Mantena has undergone major changes
in recent years and is now equipped

to face competition in the market ina
very different way from before — both
here at home and outside Norway. Our
core activities have been expanded
and a wider range of services is being

delivered to customers than ever before.

Mantena no longer just carries out
maintenance under the operators’
plans and management; over the

last few years, it has become a full-
service supplier with the experience,
expertise and resources to take overall
responsibility for the condition of the
trains.

Against the backdrop of the changes
made in recent years, Mantena has
evolved into one of the most significant
players in maintenance services for the
rail sector in the Nordic region.

Mantena is certified according
to the following standards and
requirements:

Regulation (EU) No 517/2014 on
fluorinated greenhouse gases,
with Implementing Regulation
2015/2067

NS-EN ISO 9001:2015 Quality
management systems

NS-EN ISO 14001:2015
Environmental management
systems

EM 15085-2 Welding of railway
vehicles and components

Mantena NTO Certificate
2018-2022

ECMF IV - Maintenance
delivery function, based on
Regulation (EU) No 445/2011

Regulation (EU) No 2019/779
(Entities in charge of
maintenance) F 1-11|

Safety certificate and licence
parts A and B in Norway and
Sweden to run trains on the rail
network

A FULL-SERVICE SUPPLIER WITH THE EXPERIENCE,
EXPERTISE AND RESOURCES TO TAKE OVERALL
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE TRAINS

has workshops for maintenance of
compeonents and parts, as well as

an extensive logistics function. The
company also undertakes maintenance
and repairs of railway machinery in
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OUR CORE VALUES

PURPOSE VALUES VISION
SUSTAINABLE AND EFFICIENT TRUST, EFFICIENCY AND THE NORDIC REGION'S
TRANSPORTATION THROUGH INNOVATION MOST INNOVATIVE TOTAL

OPTIMAL MAINTENANCE

STATE OWNER

1.633 I , I
MNOK.  H i

REVE N UE 2018 2019 2020 2021
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MAINTENANCE AND
SERVICE PROVIDER

EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES
GROUP MANTENA AS

967 752

WOMEN ON WOMEN IN
THE BOARD MANAGEMENT

25% 17%
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MANTENA

= ALWAYS MOVING FORWARD

Mantena is an essential part of a climate-friendly, efficient and safe mode
of transport. Every year our employees carry out very important jobs for the

railways and for our customers.

e help to ensure that

millions of passengers

and millions of tonnes of

freight arrive safely at their
destination. As well os passengers and
freight arriving safely, we do our part to
maintain the value of trains and other
railway equipment over time. Through
good and efficient maintenance, we help
to keep trains in service for up to 30-40
years.

Mantena has a central role

in development

The railways in Norway and the other
Nordic countries are undergoing rapid
development and digitisation. New
equipment is being bought in, to provide
for higher frequency and more trains

to meet society’s need for increasingly
climate-friendly transport solutions.

Mantena is part of the development

of the railways. One example of this is
the rollout of ERTMS within Norwegian
railways, which you can read about
inthis annual report. This is currently
Norway's largest digitisation project and
represents a technology boost for the
whole of the rail sector in Norway.

Developing rail operation

We continued to win contracts against
tough competition in 2021, However, we
also saw a negative financial result for
the year. This is mainly due to provisions
for expected losses on contracts entered
into previously, challenges related to

the pandemic and a need for further
streamlining of operations.

8 Annual Report 2021

Measures were initiated through 2021
both to strengthen the company's
financial position and to increase
competitiveness. The measures include
an efficiency improvement programme
which will help to reduce costs and
substantially improve competitiveness
over the next two years.

We have also reviewed the contract
portfolio and terminated several
unprofitable agreements in 2021 and
2022,

Greater focus on HSE

As aresponsible employer and provider
of essential services to the rail sector,
Mantena has a cleor focus on HSE in all
parts of the business. The HSE work in
Mantena was stepped up during the year
and will continue in 2022,

Always moving forward

We will also continue to develop our
methedeology for maintaining rail
equipment. There is significant potential
in the industry both to further reduce
greenhouse gas emissions from rail
operations and te increase efficiency in
the value chain for customers.

Mantena will always be moving forward,
and we aim to be a driver for a climate-
friendly, efficient ond secure railway
sector in the coming years.

Best wishes,

John Arne Ulvan, Managing Diractor/CEC

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/
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MANTENA IS
PART OF THE
DEVELOPMENT
OF RAILWAYS
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INNOVATION
AND EFFICIENT
TRANSPORT
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—FRESH IDEAS

FOROPTIMAL
MAINTENANCE

Innovation is the foundation of our effort to
become the most iflfi8Vative full-service supplier of
maintenance services in the Nordic region.

antena takes an innovative
approach in adopting new
technologies and developing
processes. This should make
us even more efficient and enable us to
provide even better services and add
value for our customers and partners.

Optimising maintenance programmes
An impertant part of our work to
develop the maintenance services is
constant optimisation of maintenance
programmes. Optimisation will allow
both Mantena and its customers

12 Annuaol Report 2021

to devote less resources to the
maintenance of trains.

Condition-based maintenance

In the area of condition-based
maintenance, Mantena is running
research programmes together with the
Research Council of Norway. Among
other things, we investigate how data
capture from the trains can be used as
a basis for decisions on maintenance
work. Newer train types now have
systemns installed to collect and transfer
data.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

Mantena is actively using some of these
systems today, and sees it as g helpful
step in the future to install systems for
transmitting data on trains that do not
have such systems on board.

Reliability-centred maintenance

(RCM) analyses are used to develop
maintenance programmes based on
safety, reliability, low costs and efficient
operation,

Automated maintenance is also being
worked on. A wheel scanner has been

12/98
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installed as part of the contract with
@resundtog. Automatic measurement
of the profile of the wheels should
reveal wear and damage at an early
stage. The data collected is used to
optimise maintenance, extend the life
of the wheels, and to prevent worsening
damage affecting operation.

In sum, these activities will help to
reduce time spent in the workshops,
while maintaining safety and high
guality in the overall delivery of train
sets.

Mantena Annual Report 2021

Innovation and efficient transport

OPTIMISATION WILL ALLOW BOTH
MANTENA AND ITS CUSTOMERS TO
DEVOTE LESS RESOURCES TO THE WORK

Lifetime of old equipment

Trains have a long service life; in many
cases they remain in operation for
over 40 years. This can make it hard

to procure spare parts, as parts go out
of production before the trains have
reached the end of their service lives.
One way in which Mantena is meeting
this challenge is the use of 3D scanning,
so as to be able to produce its own
replacement parts and repair damaged
components.

This technology allows us to keep trains
in operation for longer, as an affordakle
and efficient solution for customers.
Mantena has partners in additive
manufacturing and 3D printing, both to
create new parts and to overhaul and
repoir existing parts.

By adopting new technology, Mantena
sees great opportunities to reuse more
of the materials used in overhaul work

and so also reduce waste.

3D scanning for documentation

Visual inspection and mapping of
damage and repairs can be a very
complex and time-consuming job with
conventional measurement methods. It
is alse difficult to assess and document
deviations in geometric tolerances with
manual measurements. 3D scanning
allows us to do this job more accurately
and efficiently.

By comparing scan and reference
geometry in an application, a digital
targeted deviation report can be
generated. We define acceptance
criteria ourselves on the basis of
reguirermnents from the manufacturer,
train owner or customer. Having this
expertise within the company allows any

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

OF MAINTAINING THE TRAINS.

discrepancies to be detected at earlier
times in the repair process. This results
in efficient processes, cost-saving
solutions and better quality.

New internal operating models
Mantena follows the Operational
Excellence Programme (OEP) in its day-
to-day work, which creates a common
understanding and enables us to
develop and implement a flow-oriented
and self-improving business process.
Operational Excellence is intended to
support the whole organisation with
knowledge and a common language to
provide for an optimal flow throughout
the value chain. Mantena has chosen to
collaborate with the researcher Niklas
Meodig, who has extensive experience of
change management.

In 2020, Group management and the
main elected representatives went
through the first part of the programme,
the Foundation Course. The Foundation
Course was given for all employees

in 2021, and the Transformation
Programme will be run in several parts of
the Group in 2022,

New business models

Martena’s services are based on long
experience of maintenance combined
with o great capacity for innovation.
A strong focus on new technologies,
combined with a willingness to pick up
knowledge and experience frem other
industries such as aerospoce and
defence, should provide a basis for new
business models and services for our
customers aond partners.

Martena will meet customer needs

through partnerships where all products
and services are delivered efficiently.

Annual Report 2021 13
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WEB-BASED
OLUTION FOR

MAINTENANCE

PLANNING

Mantena optimises maintenance planning.

he ‘Mainman’ project was

completed in November 2021

in collaboration with SINTEF,

The project was supported by
the Morwegian Research Council and
agimed to develop a prototype for a web-
bosed solution to optimise maintenance
planning.

The work on this project and the lessons
learned from it form an important part
of Mantena's ambition to become one
of the most effective maintenance
providers in the railway sector.

Planning based on more data

Once the solution is fully developed,

it will be available on PC, mabile and
toblet. Perhaps the biggest benefit

of the solution is that it will provide

a much better overview and greater
efficiency in maintenance planning.
This was previously a complex process,
where planners went through the data
manually and made plans based on just
afew parameters.

With the new solution in place, planners

can continuously optimise maintenance
plans from a large amount of available

14 Annual Report 2021

daota, including deadlines, available
resources, staffing plans, maintenance
intervals and access to parts.

The solution will then offer more scope
for last-minute changes to the plans, so
unexpected events in production can be
taken inte account.

More precise work

Stig Rune Asum isa strategic planner
at Mantena. He explains that the web-
based solution will allow them to work
more precisely and accurately in their
maintenance planning.

-This sclution will mean that we get

a completely different quality of
production plans. We can more easily
see how many pecple we need to do the
maintenance at any given time, and with
a better averview, we will also be able

to arrange for @ more even allocation

of work and reduce the use of overtime,
for example. More accurate plans will
alse help the heavy component overhaul
unit with an even better supply of
components and parts, and ensure that
they pick up a shortage of parts at an
early stage.

Strategic planner Stig Rune Asum

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/
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THE SOLUTION WILL MEAN
THAT WE GET A COMPLETELY
DIFFERENT QUALITY OF
PRODUCTION PLANS
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MANTENA A KEY PLAYER
IN NORWAY’S BIGGEST
IT PROJECT

New signalling system means a lot of work for Mantena in the years ahead.

he signalling system in Norway
is now being upgraded to
provide greater punctuality,
increased safety and more
stable operation. The new signalling
system is called ERTMS, which
stands for European Railway Traffic
Management System,

Bane NOR has contracts with three
suppliers for the project. These are
Siemens, which is supplying new
signalling equipment; Alstom, which

is converting the trains; and Thales,
which is delivering the new traffic
management system. Mantena is a sub-
contractor to Alstormn and was chosen

Raymond Lysaker fitting a roof antenna as
port of the ERTMS project

16 Annuaol Report 2021

for its expertise, capacity, competitive
price and previous experience from
similar projects.

In service at Oslo Central in 2026
When the Nordlandsbanen line from
Grong to Bode storts using ERTMS

in October 2022, followed by the
Gjevikbanen from Roa to Gjevik a few
weeks later, Mantena will have assisted
in installing the equipment to be fitted
on the trains.

The new signalling system is scheduled
to go into service at Oslo Central
station sometime in 2026. By then
around 400 trains should have had the
new digital signalling system installed.

Proof of capability

The ERTMS project is currently Norway's
largest IT project. Mantena’s project
manager Bjern Erik Hattrem enjoys
helping to toke the railways into a new
and modern age.

-There is a lot of prestige and oppertunity
on such projects. The fact that Mantena
is taking part in this project shows
that we have the capability and are
a professional operator in the field of
project execution. This is going to be
instructive, challenging, exciting and fun,
says Hattrem.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

He describes it as a complex project for
Martena too. The plan covers almost
200,000 man-hours, and at its busiest
the project is likely to involve between
60 and 70 Mantena staff.

It will be busy

After a challenging year in 2021 when
the project was hit by the problems
affecting the different supply chains
worldwide, there will be a lot of activity
at the workshops at Marienborg and
Grorud in the coming years - something
Hattrem is looking forward to.

-It's incredibly exciting to be part of the
future Tor train services in Norway, with
fewer delays and better control. Today,
there are more than fifteen different
signalling systems, developed over eight
decades. Now all of these are being
replaced with a new system and, as far
as | know, Norway is the only country
deing it this way rather than one line at
a time. Of course this is exciting to be
part of, he says.

AT ITS BUSIEST, THE
PROJECT IS LIKELY TO
INVOLVE BETWEEN

60 AND 70 MANTENA
STAFF

16/98
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| RTMS PROJECT SHOWS

HAT WE HAVE THE CAPABILITY
AND ARE A PROFESSIONAL
OPERATOR IN THE FIELD OF
PROJECT EXECUTION
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GOOD TEAMWORK
MAINTAINING TYPE 74/75

BOGIES

Maintenance project to learn from.

he contract with Vy to maintain

type 74/75 bogies on the Flirt

trains is in its fifth year. After

the pre-qualification was
passed to NSB (now called Vy) at the
end of September 2016, the contract
itself was signed a little over a year |ater,
on 5 December 2017 to be precise.

The contract to maintain the bogies is
for a total of eight years, plus an option
for four more. In other words, this is a
large and prestigious contract of great
importance to Mantena. According to
forecasts, maintenance and overhaul
work will be done on a total of 764
bogies from 2018 to 2029,

Good forecasts

Dario Barisic is planning manager in
the Products and Projects division at
Mantena. He tolks about a successful
ongoing project where the team has
stuck to its tender estimates thanks to
close monitoring and good teamwork.

-When we get as good o forecast as we
have in this tender, everything points
to success both for us and for our
customer. With a good project forecast,
we have control over the procurement
and maintenance of components at all
times. We knew early on in the project
that if we just followed the procedures,
then this would go well.

18 Annual Report 2021

-One very important factor for the
project has been that the tender
manager alse acted as project manager
in the mobilisation and implementation
phase. We know from experience that
there can be problems when the person
or people who scld the project are not
imvolved in the actual implementation
phase.

Close monitering

Barisic, who drove the project forward
until @ new project manager took over,
praises the team on the project.

WE WOULD NEVER HAVE
MANAGED THIS IF WE
HADN'T BEEN A GOOD TEAM

-Right from day one, we have followed up
on every single bogie, and this has given
the team control over implementation
and the costs of this project. This has
allowed us to see exactly where we
had problems and where things worked
well. There were quite o few issues
with the time spent on some activities
at the start, but thanks to this close
monitoring we were able to address and
resolve these challenges right away.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

A short walk from office to production
Barisic explains that, on this project,
there are six employees overhauling the
bogies at any time, who are monitored
by the project manager from day to day.
With the project office located ‘right in
the middle of production’, the project
manager can guickly get out to the line
if problems arise, and discuss solutions
with the team.

-The short distance between project
management and production has
enabled us to pick up and resolve issues
guickly, When the dialogue is good and
pecple get daily Tollow-up, it is easier
for all involved to take ownership and
pull inthe same direction towards a
comman goal. We would never have
managed this if we hadn't been a gocd
team, says Barisic, who is aware that
you sometimes need to think ‘outside
the box'.

Always possible to make improvements
-Existing precedures have not stopped

us looking for and making improvements.

In this project, we have found new ways
for components maintained in other
areas than the bogie department at
Grorud to flow through. With a combined
team effort from all disciplines, we have
arrived at a new and improved internal
logistics flow that now werks in a

more effective way.

18/98



17.01.2023, 09:51 Mantena Annual Report 2021

Innovation and efficient transport

Dario Borisic with some of the team overhauling the type 74/75 bogies: (from the left) Julic Wagner, Trond Andreassen,
Dario Barisio, Bjern Svendsen and Bjern Egil Johansen.

Nine reasons for good project work on the
maintenance of type 74/75 bogies

1. Project manager with primary responsibility for the
tender, negotiation, mobilisation and implementation

2. Close monitoring in the mobilisation phase, involving all
departments in Mantena

3. Teams that want to succeed, where everyone wants to
contribute

&, Close follow-up in the delivery phase with dedicated
personnel

5. Ownership and monitoring of costs in the contract
6. Focus on additional work

7. Innovation in internal processes. Daring to do things ina
different way where appropriate

8. Good dialogue and exchange of information with the
customer

9. Continucus evaluation

Annual Report 2021 19
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MARKETS AND STRATEGY
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IFIT IS TO BE THE PREFERRED SUPPLIER IN THE
INDUSTRY, MANTENA MUST CONTRIBUTE TO
ADDED VALUE FORITS CUSTOMERS

ALWAYS MOVING FORWARD

The rail industry is constantly changing,
and this also affects Mantena's choice of

direction.

he ongoing competitive situa-

tion and developments in the

industry mean that we need to

work systematically on improve-
ment activities in all sections of the
company. In order to be the preferred
supplier in the industry, Mantena must
contribute to increased value creation
for its customers and secure a sustaina-
ble profit for itself.

Internal competency raising

The competitive situation means that
we have to adapt to the new market and
that there will be increasing demands
for efficiency and quality of delivery.
With this in mind, Mantena ran a staff
development initiative in 2021 with the
spotlight on continuous improvement.
The Operational Excellence Pragramme
(OEP) is an internal development
programme that contributes to
improved efficiency and flow in internal
work processes.

Added value for customers

We are constantly evelving to be able
to deliver services to a larger part of the
value chain. We do this by taking wider
responsibility for the activities that
customers require, thereby adding value
for those customers, We aim not just

to passively maintain trains and com-
ponents under the operotors’ plans and

22 Annual Report 2021

management, but also to take overall re-
sponsibility for the trains in partnership
with customers.

One example is driving trains so they
can be picked up wherever they are and
delivered where the customer wants
them. Another example is the expansion
of service provision to include advanced
technical services. This is already being
done for Sertoget and @resundstog.

The aim of taking a larger part of the
value chain is to be the customer's pre-
ferred partner in the overall maintenance
process. This will enhance our role as the
leading player in the Nordic region.

Ready-made project execution

A training programme in project execu-
tion was also provided to many of the
employees in 2021, The Sirius training
programme is intended to ensure that
we run projects in the best possible way
at all levels of our business. This pro-
gramme focuses on both commercial
terms and agreed deliveries.

Aggressive attitude and clear direction
Mantena will continue to invest broadly,
work to win new contracts, enter new
markets and cover more and more of the
value chain to generate new growth. A
key part of this is to continue to develop

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

our skills and service offerings, with the
aim of delivering top-class maintenance
services.

Strong competitiveness

Inthe face of new challenges, com-
petitiveness will be crucial. Mantena

has economies of scale to be exploited,
experience to be used wisely and pro-
cesses to be optimised. To maintain and
strengthen our competitiveness, Mantena
aims to remain a skills-based company
with o proactive attitude to technology
and new solutions.

This aggressive attitude and longstand-
ing, conscious strategic work with a clear
direction have made us ready to enter
markets such as Denmark and Finland

when they are opened up to competition.

There is no doubt about our competi-
tiveness. This is demonstrated by the
award of new contracts and the renewal
of current ones, and the trust we enjoy
from existing customers.

22/98
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IMPROVED EFFICIENCY
AND FLOW IN INTERNAL
WORKPROCESSES

Work on internal skills development and continuous

improvement continues.

n 2021, several successful improve-

ment projects were launched and

implemented around the Operaticnal

Excellence Programme (QEP) within
Mantena.

The Director of the Products and
Projects division, Jan-Tare Nicolai
Iversen, explains that the aim of OEP
and the internal improvement projects

Director of the Products and Frojects division,
Jan-Tore Nicolai versen

24 Annual Report 2021

is to increase flow efficiency and create
self-improving units. To succeed in this,
it is essential for individual projects to
work across functions and roles.

-Cross-functional improvement work
reguires a high degree of invelvement
from our employees, not to mention
transparency between departments.
The key factor in all our improvement
projects has been this close involvement
of our own employees, the fact thot
all examples are taken directly from
the business and that suggested
improvements are implemented
immediately.

Building culture

Iversen says that an important goal

in the use of Operational Excellence

as o business strategy and work
methedology is to create a culture
within the company with a focus on
continuous improvement. And although
it is not long since they started working
with OEP as a'tool’ he is already seeing
signs of improvement in various areas of
the business.

-QEP helps us to systematise our

work and makes it easier to focus on

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

improved efficiency and flow in internal
processes, Thanks to this targeted
effort with OEP, we have already started
to improve the situation in several areas
in Mantena, Iversen says. He adds:

-The commitment our managers and
employees have shown has enabled
us to reduce lead times between our
departments. These improvements now
form the basis of our efforts in 2022,
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Improved preduction run

One of many groups within Mantena
that have worked with OEP is the
component overhaul team in the
workshop at Grorud. The head of the
wheel department, Bert Sterken, and

his colleagues have worked on a cross-
functional analysis to pick up where time
is lost in production, as well as lead time
issues with materials, logistics/facilities
and deliveries to the workshop.

Mantena Annual Report 2021

The head of the wheel department in the workshop at Grorud, Bert Sterken

-We took a type 73 track wheel from
when it was removed in Lodalen until
it was placed in the clean stores
at Grorud. What we thought was a
regular production run turned out to
be a project with great potential for
improvement. To address the problem,
we instituted weekly meetings where
each unit defined different KPIs. As
well as providing detailed reporting and
legging, this improved the flow though

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

the process, says Sterken, who notes
that they have managed to halve the
overall lead time from 31 to 14 days.

OEP MAKES IT

EASIER TO FOCUS ON
IMPROVED EFFICIENCY
AND FLOW
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) new paint hall at Grorud was ready e
the beginning of February 2022. M
now has one of the biggest paint h
Europe, right in the middle

L] Project Manager Per Henning Torgersen
|

|
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Markets and strategy

he new paint hall opens up
new opportunities. The paint
hall is 113 metres long and
can be divided into four equal
sections of 28.25 metres each. This
allows us to provide painting services
to more players than just the train
companies. In the new paint hall, high-
quality paint jobs can be carried out
on trucks, trailers, buses, construction
and agricultural machinery, offshore
components, cranes and masts.

Fer Henning Torgersen has been
Mantena's project manager for Bane
NOR in the work on the new paint hall.
He says that the hall will lead to far
greater efficiency in production, and
that this is important to Mantena's
competitiveness.

Among the largest in Europe

-We're talking about one of the biggest
paint halls in Europe. As well as making
us more efficient, because we have a
better place te work on the jobs we do,
we gain a huge amount of flexibility
because of the four sections that the
hall can be divided into. When it comes
to painting trains, it will be exciting to
see how this affects efficiency. There
used to be some dead time in this work,
but now we have space for all types of
trains and, in the case of carriages and
locomotives, we can take four units into
the paint box at the same time.

Torgersen says the new paint hall is also
important te the HSE work, HSE was
taken inte account in planning the hall,
and here everything is new in terms of
extractors, lighting and other matters

affecting safety and working conditions.

Detailed design work

Torgersen and his colleagues have had
some busy days, but thankfully all of the
work has gone according to plan, which
is not a given with so many players
involved, some outside of Norway, and
so much to be coordinated.

-The project has stayed on track all the
way through, in terms of both time and
cost. Getting this done on schedule

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

THE PAINT HALL
OPENS UP BRAND NEW
OPPORTUNITIES IN
NEW MARKETS

with regular border closures and harsh
Covid restrictions has not been easy,
but anything is possible when you have
good people on the team. Along with
good people ot all stages, the reason
why things have gone well is primarily
good planning at the outset between
Bane NOR, Nerconsult and our own
employees at Mantena. There has been
a great determination to complete this
project on time. Installing a 113-metre
paint box inside an old building with all
of its constraints is not a simple matter.
That's why detailed design work was
essential, says a proud and excited
Torgersen, who is now looking forward to
seizing the new opportunities that have
opened up.

Annuol Report 2021 27

27/98



17.01.2023, 09:51 Mantena Annual Report 2021

TRAIN DRIVING
PROVIDES MORE
COMPLETE DELIVERY

2021 was the year when Mantena started driving trains.

HE START OF TRAIN DRIVING SERVICES
REPRESENTS AN IMPORTANT STEP IN
THE DEVELOPMENT OF END-TO-END
MAINTENANCE PROVISION

28 Annual Report 2021
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n 2020, Mantena was awarded licence
and safety certificates A and B to
drive trains without passengers or
freight on the national rail netwark
in Norway. Because of the coronavirus
pandemic, train driving did not start
until 2021,

First drive

After much preparation and planning,
Mantena tock its first independent
drive on the natienal rail netwerk in
Norway in January 2021, This followed
the completion of work on an Itino train
set owned by Transitio in Sweden. The
train set was delivered by Mantena to
the border station at Charlottenberg,
and a similar train set was taken back to
Grorud for scheduled work.

Qur first run was driven by Syed Hussain,
who is a train driver and traffic safety
training officer in Mantenca's safety and
quality department. Since this first trip,
there have been many similar trips to
and from the border.

Better end-to-end provision

Roy Sannerhaugen is Director of quality,
health and safety and environment at
Mantena. He explains that the start

of train driving services represents an
important step in the development of
end-to-end maintenance provision.

-The fact that we can now drive trains
means we can deliver o more complete
product to customers, and together
with the rail companies, we can offer
more integrated service provision. Fora
roilway company, there is a lot of train
driving that is not commercial. This
includes driving to and from workshops,
positioning runs to get trains to the
right place, and test driving after
maintenance and repair work. Mantena
wants to offer this sort of train driving
to customers as part of its maintenance
provision.

Aiming to expand the service
Sannerhaugen says Mantena is working
to expand the train driving service for

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

customers who can see the advantage
in @ maintenance company providing
delivery services.

-Right now, a significant proportion of
our work is concerned with upgrades,
painting and repair jobs, where the
trains have to come into the workshops
and stay there for a while. When we work
on jobs like this, we also try to provide
a more complete service which also
includes delivery back to the customer.
Anocther example is that we want to
extend the service to include delivery to
the platform after maintencnce work,
for the railway companies to take over
from there.

Driving in Sweden too

In Sweden, it is more commeon for
maintenance firms to deliver the trains.
Mantena in Sweden already has a safety
certificate for shunting. In December
2020, this was extended to cover main
linegs. On @ December 2020, Mantena
drove its first train on the main line

in Sweden, from Karrakra depot to
Hdassleholm Central. Just a few days
later, on 132 December, our delivery
service started on this route, to coincide
with the start of the maintenance
contract in @resund.

Syed Hussain in frent of EL-18 2244 on the first
train driving job for Mantena
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SUSTAINABILITY,
CSR AND HSE
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MANTENA CONTRIBUTES
TO A SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY
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Sustainability is fully integrated into
Mantena's business operations. Along
with good deliveries to customers, we
aim to be a responsible operator which
safeguards employees’ rights, makes
demands on its suppliers and follows up

on its own climate targets to maintain

a systematic approach to the UN's 17
Sustainable Development Goals®,

We follow the 2021 guidelines fram NUES
(the Morwegian Corporate Governance

Beard). The whole of cur declaration

is included in this report. See page ?0.
Through the company’s strategy process,
an overall plan for sustainable value
creation has been established, ¢f Storting
White Paper Mo 8 (2019-2020), section 10,

Our greatest contribution to a sustainable society is to ensure good deliveries
to our customers to enable them to achieve their goals.

inequality and stopping climate change
by 2030. The Sustainable Development
Gioals treat the environment, economy
and social development as a single
whole. They apply to all countries and

sustainable development.

Mantena's contribution to the UN
Sustainable Development Goals

We take the UN's 17 Sustainable

Development Goals seriously in our plans,
including eradicating poverty, combatting

Mantena contributes directly to the UN Sustainable Development Goals in various ways.

OO0 HLATH
AND WELL-BING

Y

i

Goal 3: Good health and well-being

Preventive health and sofety work, support
for SOS children's villages, focus on HSE, risk
management

Implement and follow up on measures in serious

situations such as the Covid-19 pandemic

Goal 5: Gender equality

Promote gender equality in recruitment and
take account of gender equality work in HR
and salary policy

Goal 9: Innovation and infrastructure
Adopt new technology, develop maintenance
programmes for increased performance and
longer life of vehicles and components, re-
engineer parts
Development of processes in collaboration
with SINTEF and the Research Council of
Morway

Goal 12: Responsible consumption and
production
Strong focus on HSE, chemicals
management ond waste management
Help to develop maintenance processes far
increased performance and lifetime

Adaopt the business in serious situations
such as the COVID-19 pandemic

' in 2015, the UN member states adopted 17 Sustainable Development Geals out te 2030

o Goal &: Quality education

WA

+  Support SOS children's villages, toke on

I!!l l apprentices, promote equality and diversity

Preventing discrimination

Goal B: Decent work and economic growth

+  Ensure profitability, growth and innovation,
adapt the company te a new reality

CHCIM] e AN3
FCONOALC CATWTH

+  Work to combat all forms of carruption

Goal 11: Sustainable cities and communities
» Contribute through our core business to
sustainable transport systems, putting
safety first

Marntena also contributes directly and indirectly to other
goals, e.g. through o focus on innovation and responsible
business and through the company's code of conduct and
other governing documents.

Annual Report 2021
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are a roadmap for global efforts towards
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DUE DILIGENCE ASSESSMENTS
AND RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

The process for due diligence assessment

Communicate
how impaocts are addressed

Identify & assess adverse
impacts in operations, supply
chains & business relationships

7N
omai:la 5 Provide for or

Embed resp cooperate in remediation
business conduct

when appropriate
Into policies & managemant PRropr
systems
Track Cease, prevent or mitigate
implementations adverse impacts
and results

OECD GUIDELINES

FOR MULTINATIONAL
ENTERPRISES

Morwegian authorities expect
MNorwegian companies with
international operaticns to know and
comply with the OECD Guidelines

for due diligence assessments and
responsible business conduct. A key
element of the OECD guidelines is
an expectation that companies will
make due diligence assessments to
avoid harming people, society and
the environment?.

According to the OECD guidelines, companies should contribute to:

Safeguarding the environment
« Anenvironmental policy has been established which
forms the basis for our environmental work
« Systematic analyses of significant environmental
aspects are carried out each year, and form the basis
for our priority areas. Certified according to NS-EN
150 14001:2015

Respect for human rights
* We have established governing documents based on
the principles behind the UN Declaration of Human
Rights and the ILO's fundamental conventions

Employment and relations between the parties
in the labour maorket
+  An HR policy has been drawn up which forms the
basis for the work on workers’ rights, human rights
and protection against discrimination
+ Routines hove been established to prevent retaliation
when reporting wrongdoing

Prevent corruption and bribery

ﬁb + We work to combat all forms of corruption and for

transparency in financial transactions

+ A separate "Declaration on ethics and corporate
social respensibility” has been preduced

= Aninternal and external whistleblowing channel has
been established to report instances of wrongdoing

A separate tax policy has also been drown up and systematic stakeholder analyses are carried out in addition to the efforts

described under “Sustainability in Mantena”,

* QECD guidelines an due diligence and responsible businecs.
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ETHICS AND CORPORATE
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

thics and our code of conduct are

an impartant part of our work on

corporate social responsibility.

We are against all forms of
corruption and for transparency in
financial transactions.

A regulatory framework has been
established that forms the basis for
this work. The regulations are based on
the UN Declaration of Human Rights
and the ILO’s core conventions, as

well as the Ten Principles of the Global
Compact.

A procurement policy that includes
ethical requirements for suppliers

is used as a basis for establishing
agreements with new and existing
suppliers. Qur requirements for suppliers
are systematically reviewed and
checked before we enter into contracts,
and we follow up our suppliers through
the contract period.

Qur code of conduct and procedures
for whistleblowing are aligned with legal
requirements. A whistleblowing channel
has been established for employees
and third parties, such as customers
and suppliers, to report instances of
wrongdoing.

The framework for our work on ethics
and corporate social responsibility is
set out in governing documents held

in the Mantena Management System.
The tasks invelved are described in the
managers’ job descriptions.

External environment

Mantena recognises that its business
affects the environment. That is why we
are constantly working to improve the
company's envireonmental performance
and reduce our environmental

footprint by satistying our own

requirements, customer and regulatory
requirements and relevant standards.
An environmental policy has been
established which forms the basis and
direction for our environmental work.

Mantena is certified according to NS-
EMI1SO 14001:2015, and is monitored
through annual audits. Annual

analyses of environmental aspects and
identifying key environmental issues
form the basis for the priority areas and
the environmental programme.

Priority areas for 2021

= Chemicals management and
reduction in the number of chemicals,
specific focus on chemicals
that could harm people and the
environment

«  Deal with waste, especially hazardous
waste, and provide for correct storage
and disposal

= Energy consumption

= Fuel consumption

+  Handling of fluorinated greenhouse
gases

The operations use a number of
chemicals, some of which can cause
injury to personnel and deamage to the
environment if they are not handled in
accordance with established procedures
and reguirements. The general objective

15

0

Millien tonnee CO, - aquivalents

o

of a five per cent reduction in the
number of chemicals has been changed
to a focus on hazardous chemicals,
retention and use. Such chemicals

have decreased significantly over time.
The company handles waste that can
cause environmental damage if it is not
dealt with properly. No issues with the
handling of hazardous waste have been
reported in the period.

Emissions

Regular measurements of emissions into
the air and water are carried out, and
measures are taken where necessary.
Three reported emission incidents, none
of which had any lasting environmental
impact.

Mantena is part of the rail industry,
which accounts for the lowest
proportion of emissions from the
transport sector. Despite an ever-
increasing proportion of electric cars
and efforts to develop environmentally
friendly modes of transport, the rail
sector is holding its position as the
industry with the lowest emissions in
the transport sector.

The chart shows the trend in millions
of tonnes of CO, equivalents from the
sector.

——

1790 2000 2005

. Rl Air

* Source Statistica Narway (55E] and the Merwegian Environment Agency
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antena’s HR policy aims to

provide attractive workplaces

while also developing the

company so we can achieve
our vision of becoming the maost
innovative full supplier of meointenance
services inthe Nordic region.

The HR policy lays down standards
for attitudes and interaction within
the company. It aims to develop the
workplace both professionally and
sociolly. Based on both human needs
and the Group's needs, Mantena

aims to help develop the individuals,
stimulate interaction and emphasise
co-determination, innovation and
competence. We value employees who
show initiative and take responsibility.

36 Annual Report 2021
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We work to develop a workplace where
employees are proud to work, and where
we are all committed to the job, care

for each other and help each other to
improve.

Equality in Mantena

Our guidelines are intended to help us
focus on maintaining equality in terms
of pay, recruitment, promotions and
education and training. The Group wants
a wide and diverse range of managers
and employees, where individual
qualities are respected and valued.

We have a conscious strategy of
encouraging women and people with
immigrant backgrounds to apply for
jobs.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

We ensure that women and men are
offered equal opportunities to wark on
the different tosks. In a male-dominated
industry with little staff turnover, it is
difficult to increase the proportion of
women.

Unfortunately, there are few female
applicants for operational positions.
Most women are in manogement and
administrative positions.

HSE and traffic safety in Mantena

We put safety first. By safety, Mantena
mainly means avoiding injury to people
and damage to equipment in the
course of work on our own premises and
preventing unwanted incidents resulting
from work carried out on railway
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vehicles and from shunting and driving
trains in our own business.

An established safety policy forms the
basis for our HSE work.

Safety in Mantena falls into twe
categories:
»  Traffic safety: the ability to avoid
serious incidents while shunting
and driving trains, including work on
sofety-critical systems and functions
on trains and components
«  Working envirenment and personal
safety

The traffic safety work is mainly
directed at shunting (moving rolling
stock), driving trains and safety-critical
tasks on vehicles and components.
Separate procedures have been
established to monitor the work. All
events and incidents are recorded and
followed up in our improvement and
incident management system.

Some incidents were recorded in 2021
which, under other circumstances,
could have had serious consegquences.
The cases have been followed up and
dealt with according to the relevant
procedures. These events are related to
shunting and maintenance of trains and
components.

Mantena drives trains

In 2020, Mantena was awarded licence
and safety certificates A and B, to drive
trains without passengers or freight on
the national rail netwerk in Norway. We
started driving on our own account in
2021,

Mantena in Sweden already has a safety
certificate for shunting, which was
extended in December 2020 to cover
main lines too.

Injuries, incidents and events are
followed up through local werking
environment committees (LAMU) at

the individual workshops and in the
central working environment committee
(HAMU) for the company. Mantena has
zero tolerance for injuries to staff and
damage to material assets. There is a
particular focus on preventive measures
to aveid personal injury. All injuries are

closely monitored and measures are
taken to prevent further accidents.
Systematic safe job analyses and risk
analyses are carried out, which form the
basis for the preventive work.

68 injuries were reported in 2021,
compared to 33 the year before. The
number of personal injuries has seen a
significant increase overall, while the
number of H1 injuries is the same as the
previous year; for the Group, this means
areduction in the H1 value. There is a
strong focus on preventive measures
and follow-up of all incidents that occur.
HSE and personal safety are described
in Mantena’s management system

and systematic safety inspections are
canducted in all restricted areas.

All HSE issues are systematically
followed up in departmental and
management meetings. Several
measures were defined and taken inthe
period to prevent serious incidents, and
further actions have been described
and entered into the HSE Plan for 2022,
One of the key areas is to provide good
reporting of incidents. This work has
also yielded results.

The H1 factor for 2021 was measured
at 9.0, against 11.8 in 2020 (a total of
15 injuries resulting in absence in 2021,
which is the same level as in 2020).

An extended safety inspection is
carried out once a year, with the plent
owner and the cccupaticnal health
service taking port. Issues from safety

inspections are followed up inthe LAMU.

An action plan is drawn up after the
inspection, and all issues are recorded
and dealt with in our improvement and
incident management system.

The rate of sickness absence was 7.5%
in 2021 (6.4% in 2020) in the Mantena
Group and 8.3% (6.9%) in Mantena
AS. This is predominantly long-term
absence. The propertion of Covid-

related absence was 0.79% in 2021 (0.6%

in 2020).

HSE work is o definite pricrity area for
2022 too.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

Mantena during the coronavirus
pandemic

The coronavirus pandemic gave rise to
an extraordinary situation in 2021 too.
Mantena launched various initiatives
and transferred the responsibility for
following up on the measures from

a separate team in 2020 to the HSE
manager and the line organisation. They
have held regular status meetings.

With established measures and close
monitoring, we have managed to
maintain deliveries and hove seen very
few Covid cases among our employees.
Infection cases that have arisen have
been dealt with in gccordance with
established guidelines. Towards the
end of the year, the number of cases

of infection increased, as in the rest of
society.

Qur customers and suppliers have
shown great patience with the actions
we have taken. Feedback from Health
and Safety and from employees is
positive.

MANTENA HAS ZERO
TOLERANCE FOR INJURIES
TO STAFF AND DAMAGE TO

MATERIAL ASSETS
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WILL MAKE OUR
APPRENTICES PROUD
TO WORK AT MANTENA

Good and close follow-up. This is the key to shaping the
workforce of the future — our apprentices.

antena is an attractive

place to train, becouse

apprentices are offered a

variety of tasks as they move
between departments in their training
period. Another benefit is that they
have to learn how to collaborate with
different people. The feedback from
the apprentices is that they get plenty
of help when they are not sure about
something. -Mantena has extensive
experience with apprenticeships, and
they are good at locking after the young
people and giving them good follow-up.
These words are from Nikolai Johansen
at the training office for mechanical
trades, which monitors the apprentices
at Grorud.

Elisabeth Grebstad Redseth, who is an
HR adviser at Mantenag, is delighted with
the positive comment from Johansen.
She says thot working on the railways is
not such a well-trodden career path for
young people, but collaboration with the
various training offices and schools is
just the way to change this.

Gaining wide experience

-Anyene doing an apprenticeship with
Mantena will gain wide experience of
component maintenance. Here they can
try their hand on wheels, bogies, goods
wagaons, valves and many other exciting
tasks. The various departments have
built up a good culture for invelving the
apprentices in everything that goes on
in their area. So when you have done

your apprenticeship at Mantena, you will
take away a good reference wherever
you move on to. Companies will know
that you have tried your hand at many
different tasks and that you are very
versatile.

Grebstod Redseth says that they are
working hard at Mantena to make the

company known as a good place to train.

Among other things, they are in close
touch with the schools and training
offices to talk about the vocational
opportunities and about Mantena itself.

Good results

-At Mantena we are so lucky to
have many capable young future
tradespeople with a keen interest in

Elisabeth Grebstod Redseth. HR advisor in Mantena
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the subject, says Grebstad Redseth.
The proof of this is that many of the

apprentices get a ‘Distinction’ rather
than the usual ‘Pass’,

-I've been working in Mantena for almost
ten years and there hasn't been a single
year without at least one Distinction. |
think the good results are due to the
fact that we are genuinely concerned
to ensure thot our apprentices do the
best they can, and we take our training
role seriously. Because we hope they will
stay with us after their apprenticeships,
their time here is more than just a
stopover, she says.

-Taking on apprentices is important
because we pick up fresh ideas. We
also find that our more established
employees appreciate the chance to
pass on their skills. It's natural to want
to pick up fresh knowledge and to help
to shape the young so that they are
proud to work for Mantena.

WHEN YOU HAVE DONE
YOUR APPRENTICESHIP
AT MANTENA, YOU
WILL TAKE AWAY A
GOOD REFERENCE
WHEREVER YOU MOVE
ONTO
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TARGETED HSE WORK
YIELDS RESULTS

Mantena has long taken a systematic approach to HSE activities designed to reduce the number of injuries. The

background to this effort is too many personal injuries in the past.

he number of injuries resulting

in absence from work has

been high, as is clear from the

company's H1 value. HL is an
indicater of the frequency of work-
related injuries resulting in absence per
million hours of work. A targeted and
systematic effort has been going on
for some time and is now showing good
results, especially for injuries resulting in
absence.

The main focus of the HSE measures
has been on the most serious events, to
prevent them from occurring.

Although there is still a lot to do,
Mantena's Director of quality, health
and safety and environment, Roy
Sannerhaugen, can point to o positive
trend in the ‘H1' measurements.

Preventive action
-We used to focus very much on
addressing incidents as they hoppen.
Of course that's important, but the
main thing is to ensure that such
incidents do not happen at all. We
want to be ahead of the game, increase
the amount of incident reporting and
use the information and insight that
we have to prevent serious incidents
and injuries, not just to deal with them
when they occur. The work we have
started is therefore very much about
strengthening proactive behaviour and
working systematically on prevention;
above all, this means increased
reporting of incidents and ensuring that
this information is used in preventive
action. We also see that the proportion
of incident reports has increased over
the past year.
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Sannerhaugen tells of a number of
initiatives that have been ongoing,
including:

Dialogue and exchange of experience
with other businesses

Follow-up and assistance in handling
events when injuries oceur

Halding safety meetings for all
employees, focusing on reporting
events and incidents

Specific meetings focusing on
HSE for managers with staff
responsibilities

Explaining reguirements for the use of
protective equipment

Adjusted and simplified checklists for
safety inspections

Implementing new procedures for
recording and following up on safety
inspections

Bringing this experience into the
Swedish operation
-It is hard to soy which measures have
had the biggest impact, but | am
canvinced that all of the measures
taken together have contributed to the
positive trend in the H1 measurements.
Simply focusing on this, then
undertaking a systematic review of all
events to find the underlying causes,
and making sure the same thing doesn't
happen again, are important measures
inthemselves, says Sannerhaugen.

-An important point is that we will take
the experience from our improvement
work in Narway into the Swedish
business and work in a similar way there,
he concludes.

Development H1 Mantena AS
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Kari Broberg
Chair

Kari Broberg holds a master's degree

in Ezconomics. She has experience of
telecommunications, logistics, restructuring and
innovation. Broberg has board experience fram
Telenor, Norske Skog, Norconsult, Carge Net and
Felleskjepet Agri. among others.

She is currently on the board of Cernova, Vaager
Innevotion and Mat fra Toten, as well s Mantena
Broberg runs a farm in Toten.

Stian Hérklau

Board member

Stian Hérklou holds a master's degree in lagistics

ond supply chain monagement. For the past 15 years,
he has held various management rales, all of them
associoted with logisties and tronsport-reloted
businesses Harklau has worked with buses and
freight in the Firda Billag Group. before moving te
ferry and express boat eperations in Fjord]l where he
has been CFO. commercial director and operations
director Inrecent years he has spent time in the
aviation business, as head of the helicepter company
Airlift, with operations spread eut acrass much of the
country.

Nils Ole Morken

Boord member
{employee representative)

Nils Ole Marken qualified as a sheet metal warker
at KONE AS. Morken joined NSB in 1985 and
currently works os o skilled worker in the carriage
department in Lodalen. He is deputy chairman of
Verkstedklubben Lodalen, sits as a beard member
of Statsbanenes Verkstedarbeiderforening

(the federation of Norwegion railway workshop
technicians) in Oslo ond is treasurer of the national
council of warkshop technicians.
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Ronny Solberg

Deputy chair

For the past five years, Ronny Solberg has worked
as GEO of several companies in Georgia There

he headed development of a lorge hydroslectric
power plant and developed o new deep water port
with roads, railways and power lines. Solberg has

a background frem manufacturing companies

such os ABB, Statnett, Clemens Kraft and
ADtrans/Bembardier. Among other things, Flytog,
Signaturteg and InterCity trains were supplied
under his leadership at ADtrans/Bombardier. Solberg
also has board experience from ABB and Motar &
Generator Service a3 well os o number of energy
production companies. Solberg holds a master's
degree in civil engineering and finance from NTNU in
Trondheim.

Tord Helland

Board member

Tard Helland holds a master's degrae in business
administration from the Morwegian Schoel of
Economics and Business Administration in Bergen
Helland works as CFO of the farry ond express boat
operator Morled where he has been employed since
2010. He has previous experience from PWC (Osla),
Mesta AS (Lysaker] and Sandnes Sparebank. Helland
hes served on the boord of Tide AS (2017 to March
2020), and has been a baard member/chairman of
the board of internal Narled companies.

Petter Trennes

Boord member
(employee representative)

Petter Trennes is a skilled warker ot Martena and
chairs the natienal council of workshop technicians
within the Norwegian Union of Railway Workers.
Trennes is also senicr union representotive, ond hos
been an elected efficer since 2003, He started as an
apprentice plumber at the N5B workshop in Grorud
in 1989 and has since worked there as o plumber and
mechanic.

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

Marianne Kartum

Board member

Marianne Karturn is a lawyer and partner at
Simonsen Vogt Wiig. She has specialist knowledge
of employment low, and considerable experience of
advising on lay-offs and chonges of employment
conditions, including downsizing and restructuring
processes. Kartum has many years of experience
fram various directarships in private and public-
sector businesses. She is currently on the board of
Danica Pensjonsforsikiing AS and Mercur Capital
ASA, omong others.

Torbjern Stere

Board member
(employee representative)

Tarbjarn Stere is a qualified aircraft systems
mechanic and worked for SAS at Gardermoen for
five years. He started as a mechanic ot Mantena
Marienborg in 2003, and for the last 17 yeors has
worked with light and heavy maintenance on BM23
trains. In the spring of 2020, Stere was elected chair
of Statsbanenes Verkstedforening (the federation
of Norwegian railwoy workshop technicians) in
Trandheim and deputy chair of the natianal couneil
of workshep technicians.
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part from the operations in Norway, Mantena AS also
comprises Mantena Sverige AB, Mantena Finland OY
and Mantena Danmark A/S. Mantena's head office is
at Jernbanetorget 1 in Oslo.

Mantena is the largest provider of maintenance services to
train operators in Norway. The core activity is maintenance
of locomotives, rolling stock and motor units during breaks in
service.

Mantena alsc provides workshop services for maintenance of
components and parts, and has an extensive logistics function.
Mantena alse carries cut maintenance and repairs on track
maintenance machinery in Norway:,

Mantena provides maintenance services in Sweden through its
subsidiary Mantena Sverige AB. It also has start-ups in Finland
and Denmark.

Presentation of the financial statements

Mantena AS, Mantena Sverige AB, Mantena Finland OY and
Mantena Danmark A/S are consolidated into the Group financial
statements for Mantena.

Revenue for 2021 in the Mantena Group is MNOK 1,633 (MNOK
1,536 in 2020). Of this, Mantena AS accounts for MMNOK 1,247
(MNOK 1,340 in 2020). This represents roughly the same level of
activity in 2021 as in 2020.

The operating profit for the Group was MNOK -241 (MNOK 40 in
2020) and for Mantena AS, MNOK -177 (MNOK 50 in 2020).

Frofit after tax for the Group is NOK -223 million (MNOK 38 in
2020) and for Mantena AS MNOK -262 (MNOK 46 in 2020). The
change in operating profit and profit after tax, is mainly due to
provisions for future losses on some contracts in the portfolio,
which underlines the need for restructuring.

Investments in property, plant and equipment totalled MNOK 22
in2021.

The provision for restructuring in Mantena AS is MNOK 25
million at the end of 2021

Cash flow from operational activities was minus MNOK 246,
investment activities stood at minus MNOK 5, and financing
activities at plus MNOK 250 in 2021, The difference between
cash flow from operating activities and operating profit is partly

due to payments for accessories in the new contracts, receipts
from customers, and write-offs and write-downs on capitalised
operating equipment.

The Board proposes that the negative result for the year be
transferred from other equity.

After year-end appropriations, the Grroup equity ratic is 17%
(37% in 2020), while the equity ratic for Mantena AS is 20%
(£45%%0).

Going concern

The Group has equity of MNOK 204 at 31.12.2021. Mantena
AS has equity of MNOK 205 at 31.12.2021. The year-end
appropriation has been made on the assumption of a going
COncern.

Financial market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Mantena buys and sells mainly in Norwegian kroner. There is
some currency exposure related te Swedish kroner through
operations in Mantena Sverige AB. Mantena has exposure from
purchases of parts in euros. Exposure to the euro has gradually
increased with the launch of Traffic Package 1in 201% and
Traffic Package 2 in Norway in 2020, as well as the @resundstog
contract in Sweden in December 2020. These contracts include
a propertionately larger share of parts purchases than earlier
contracts.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates, as the
company has interest-bearing debt in the form of utilised
drawing rights with a fixed credit limit.

Liguidity risk
There was little risk related to liquidity in 2021,

Credit risk

Mantena's principal customers are state-owned companies.

In Mantena's judgment, these state-owned customers, even
after restrictions on their business arising from the coronavirus
pandemic, still have liquid funds available. The credit risk is
therefore still considered low.

Market risk

We can expect to see stronger competition inthe train
maintenance market even though the Norwegian tendering
procedure for passenger trains (Traffic Packages 4 and 5) has

Annual Report 2021 45
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been shelved. The passenger train operators are still likely to
put train maintenance out to competitive tender. This raises
uncertainty as to whether Mantena will still be maintaining the
trains under these two contracts from 2024,

In the freight train market in Norway, contracts are placed

via open tenders, In Sweden, there are ongoing tendering
procedures in a deregulated ond open market. In Finland and
Denmark, deregulation of the train maintenance market has not
continued and the process has been deferred.

The future

Future competition will be met with high-quality services and
efficiency. For several years, continuous efforts have been
made to meet customer needs and to respond to increased
efficiency and delivery requirements.

Mantena signed major contracts with Alstom and Baneservice
in 2021. The company has alsc been retained by Flytoget,
Transitio and Merske Tog.

Inthe course of 2021, Mantena won several contracts related
to rebranding trainsets with SJ, Vy, Norske Tog, Go-Ahead,
RailCare, Arctic Train, Sporveien and the Norwegian Railway
Museum. A framework agreement has alsc been concluded with
Euromaint.

In 2022, Mantena has had two multi-year contracts with Cargo
Net renewed.

The 2021 operating year was tough, with weak results in some
contracts. Provisions have also been raised for future operating
losses in these contracts.

Mantena launched a restructuring programme in 2021 to
significantly reduce cost levels and maintain competitiveness
and profitability. In this connection, we also terminated two
contracts in Sweden with effect from the end of January 2022

Because of the war in Ukraine, there is uncertainty in relation
to deliveries of some components. We are working to find
alternative suppliers. High prices for electricity and metals will
increase the price of parts for maintenance. High electricity
prices bring significantly higher costs in the workshops.

The coronavirus pandemic

The coronavirus pandemic is causing continued uncertainty
for the Group. Customers, particularly the passenger train
operators, reduced their cperations and hence the demand
for maintenance services in 20Z1. Less demand and reduced
earnings resulted in lower productivity.

The pandemic also affects Mantena's suppliers, increasing the
risk of stoppages or delays in parts deliveries to the Group.
Mantena is working closely with its customers and suppliers to
find the best possible response to the situation.

4é& Annual Report 2021

Mantena has followed the official guidelines during the
pandemic and has taken a number of measures to prevent
infection, maintain production and contribute to social
responsibility. When society recpened in the autumn of 2021,
the organisation of the Group’s efforts to combat the spread of
infection changed from contingency planning te increased line
management work.

The Group has had relatively little Covid-related absence. As
the official restrictions are removed, we may expect increased
sickness absence among our employees, Mantena is working
preemptively to plan for situations with significantly more
Covid-related absence.

Mantena has not been eligible for public financial support
schemes during the coronavirus pandemic, so has not received
any such funding.

Personnel and expertise

At the end of the year there were 967 employees in Mantena
(1,031 in 2020), which represents an average of 9679 full-time
equivalents (945 in 2020). At the end of the year there were 752
employees in Mantena AS (829 in 2020), which represents an
average of 750 full-time equivelents (799 in 2020).

Mantena is an inclusive (1A) employer. Good and targeted work
has been done by managers and elected officials to meet

the objectives in the IA agreement. Mantena aims to be an
attractive workplace, with a working environment characterised
by openness and trust.

Mantenc takes responsibility for bringing apprentices into

the company to ensure future access to skills. All employees
must go through o training programme, and certifications as
required to carry out current and future contracts. Employees
are also put into a broad training programme related to project
management and productivity-promoting measures.

Equality and diversity

Mantena aims to maintain eguality and equal oppertunities
in terms of pay, employment, promotion and educction and

training. The company is concerned with equal treatment, in
which individual attributes are respected and valued.

Mantena has a conscious strategy of promoting equality of
opportunity when recruiting new employees for the company. It
ensures that women and men are offered equal opportunities to
take on the different tasks within the company. Most wemen in
the company are in management or administrative positions.

In Mantena's management team, there is one woman (17 per
cent). There are 72 women in the Mantena Group (7.7 per cent),
and 54 in Mantena AS (7.4 per cent, against 8.1 per cent in
2020).

©On the Board of Mantena there are two women and six men.
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In Mantena AS there are 7 women employed in temporary
positions, representing 37% out of a total of 19 temperary
employees. There are four women employed in temporary
positions, representing 26% out of a total of 10 temporary
employees. The average amount of parental leave is 1 week for
women and 14 weeks for men.

Corporate governance

Mantena follows the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance and the Government's corporate governance
policy and national principles enshrined in Storting White Paper
Mo B8-2019-2020. This ensures good interaction between the
owners, the Board of Directors and the management of the
company. Mantena strives for end-to-end management to
achieve the goals set by the owner for the business, broken
down into the targets and policies adopted by the Board and
management.

The Corporate Governance Statement is published on
www.mantena.org.

The work of the Board
During the year, the Board of Directors held 19 meetings.

In 2021, the Board of Directors formed a board committee for
finance and tendering processes. One meeting was held.

In 2021, the Board of Directors established @ board committee
to hire a new CEQ. There were 10 meetings.

Directors' liability insurance has been taken out for the
members of the Beard and the CEQ.

HSE and traffic safety
Mantena puts safety first. Serious incidents were recorded in
2021 which, under other circumstances, could have had sericus

conseguences. The cases have been followed up and dealt with
in accordance with Mantena's management system.

Systematic safe job analyses and risk analyses are carried
out, which form the baosis for the preventive work. 68 injuries
were reported in 2021, compared to 33 the year before. In 2021,
43 personal injuries were reported in Mantena AS against 27
personal injuries the previous year.

The werking environment is considered to be good with high job
satisfaction.

Sickness absence in Mantena Group in 2021 was 7.5% (6.4% in
2020) and in Mantenc AS, 8.3% (6.9% in 2020).

The H1 factor was measured at 2.0 in the Mantena Group (11.8
in 2020).
The H1factor was measured at 7.0 in Mantena AS (11.2 in 2020).

External environment

Mantenao recognises that its business affects the environment.
This is why continuous efforts are being made to improve the
company’s environmental performance and cut pollution, by
setting its own requirements as well as meeting regulatory
reguirements and standards.

Mo issues have been reported with the handling of hazardous
waste.

In 2021, three environmental emissions (3 emissions in 2020)
were reported in the Mantena Group and 1 in Mantena AS (3 in
2020). None had any serious environmental consequences.

Oslo, 24032022

Kari Broberg Ronny Solberg John Arne Ulvan
Chair Deputy chair ADMDIR/CEQ
(Sign) tsign]
Marianne Kartum Stian Héarklau Tord Helland
(Sign] (Gignl
Petter Trennes Nils Dle Morken Torbjern Stare

(sign)

(sign)
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People and the environment Profit

Security

AMBITIONS

MNew contracts
MNew customers
Customer
satisfaction

Best at innovation
Mew growth areas

EBIT
Operating margin

Stable return to
owner over time

Sustainability

People

The Montena way
Unigueness

Sofe workploce and
rail traffic
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Significant growth in
the period 2021-2025

Train performaonce
ECM

Engineering
Infrastructure

Satisfactory
operating margin

Prudent returns

Increased trainset
life

Mo domage to the
environment from

own operations

Sickness absence
< 6.0%

Project management
Improvement wark

Unified leadership

Hl< &0

Avoid unwanted
incidents resulting
from working on and
running trains
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Selecting the right contracts thraugh geod tendering

procedures.

Securing assignments in addition to public tendering
procedures.

Becoming a full-service supplier to the rail market requires
more sources of revenue and will result in greater growth.
Healthy growth may provide econamies of scale.

Unified project and contract management. Equal training and
equal implementation.

Focus on flow in work processes and extensive use of the MIMS
production system. Good provision of workshop facilities.

Long-term return, provides sustainable business, secure jobs
and good general conditions.

Adopt new technology, develop new maintenance programmes
for increased performance and longer life of vehicles and
components, re-engineer parts.

Establish ond follow up an environmental programme with
annual mapping of the environmental aspects of the business.
Regular follow-up and annual review before setting fresh
targets.

Increased engagement and well-being in the workplace.
Involve staff to ensure a shared view of goals and productivity.

To ensure consistent project execution. Continue the
newly-launched Operational Excellence programme to
improve workflows with increased productivity os a
year-over-year goal.

Conduct monthly manogement courses according to a plan
for ensuring unified management.

Further focus on safety with an emphasis on finding new tools,
wark processes and safety equipment.

Emphasis on competence and skills development, continuous
improvement through systematic efforts, and follow-up

of incident reports. Good pracesses and causal analyses
when incidents occur. Determine goals and KPls and ensure
continuous follow-up.
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Revenue

Operating profit
Cperating margin
Operating equipment
Inventory
Banking/financial assets
Long-term loans
Pension liabilities

Equity

Equity ratio
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Mantena AS
All figures in TNOK

Note  OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 2021 2020
12,20  Operating income 12473465 1339742
Total operating inceme 1,247,365 1,339,742
12 Cost of goods sold 334,189 238877
2,22 Payroll costs 613,613 645807
& Depreciatian of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets aie21 15,647
3,12.19  Other operating expanses 442 657 389724
Total operating expenses 1424279 1289857
Operating profit -176915 49,885
Note FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 2011 2020
12 Interest income from enterprises in the some group - #
Other financial income 5707 8993
Change In value of financial instruments measured ot fair value - -
Net finencial expenses, pensions - -
Other financial expenses -131384 -364
16 Net financial income -125.677 8,629
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX -302.592 58,515
TAX EXPENSES 021 2020
13 Tax expenses =40920 12,878

|

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR -261.672 45,

Note  TRAMSFERS 2021 2020
10 Transferred toffrom other equity -261.672 45,437
TOTAL TRANSFERS ~261.672 45,637
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Mantena AS
BALANCE SHEET
All figures in TNOK
Fixed cssets
Note  Intangible assets 2021 2020
13 Deferred tax assets 119941 72021
Total intangible assets 119941 79021
Note  Property, plant and aquipment 2021 2020
Machinery and equipment 21461 20,051
Operotional control systems 25074 22137
Operating eguipment, fixtures, tools, office mochinery ete. 24,860 53,312
4 Total property, plant and equipment 71595 95,500
Note  Finonclal fixed ossets 2021 2020
5,12  Investment in subsidiaries 677 57196
B,12  Loans to enterprises in the same group %5 395
a Other receivables 78,320 PEATL
Total financial fixed cssets 79391 157,265
TOTAL FIXED ASSETS ImoeaT 331785

Current assets

Note Goods 201 2020
7 Goods 503493 414,660
Note  Receivables 2021 2020
12 Trade accounts receivable 190,996 184,528
12 Other receivables 63,884 110 473
Total receivables 254,880 295001

Neote  investments 2021 2020
& Cther market-based financial instruments - =
Total investments - -

MNete  Bonk deposita 2021 2020
17 Cash in hand and at bank i =
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 758,372 TOR661

TOTAL ASSETS 1,029,299 1,061 446

54 Annual Report 2021

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/ 54/98



17.01.2023, 09:51 Mantena Annual Report 2021

Mantena AS

All figures in TNCK
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Mete  Paid-up equity 2021 2020
@ Share copital (100,000 shares @ NOK 1,100 ) 270000 270000
Other paid-up equir_y 1’73,_!.7& 2TILTL
10 Total paid-up aqulty 543,674 543474
Note  Retained eamnings 201 2020

10 Other equity -338972 -77.300
Total retained earnings -338972 -77.300
10  TOTAL EQUITY

Nencurrent liabilities

MNote  Provision for liabilities
1 Pension liabilities 147300

2021

TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 147,300

Current liabilities
MNote  Current liabilities

Accounts payable 30028 47.357

13 Tax payable - =
Social security and other charges 1354606 139,834

12,14 Other current liabilities 492004 230782
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES &57498 417973

TOTAL LIABILITIES 824,798 575 273

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1029299 LOLL4LE

Oslo, 24.03.2021

Kari Broberg Ronny Solberg Jehn Arne Ulvan
Chair Deputy chair ADM.DIR/CEQ
tEign) Bignd {gign1
Marianne Kartum Stian Héarklau Tord Helland
t5ign] tSign) tgign)
Petter Trennes Mils Ole Morken Torbjern Stere
(Eagn) {Sgnl (Sign]
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Mantena AS

CASHFLOW STATEMENT
All figures in TMOK
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Prafit for the year bafare tax -302 592 58515
Tax paid in the period - -
Ordinary depreciation 17821 15447
Impairment af property, plant and equiprment 14,000 -
Pension costs with (-} / without (+) cash effect 10,000 -35460
Gains from sales of financial assets - -
Financial iterns with no liquidity effect = -2780
Unreclised foraign exchange gain/loss on receivables 3776 -3453
Change in stocks of goods -88833 -315064
Change in receivables ond prepaid expenses 40516 -32,607
Change in accounts payoble -17329 11519
Change in ather liabilities 27698 -35156
Net e;:ah flows from operating activities -294.941 -307,139
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Purchase of praperty, plant and aquipment -16772 -207&7
Praceeds fram lang-term receivables 17183 17565
Depositsfloans to subsidiaries - -
Praceeds fram sales of financial curent assets - -
Net cash flow from investment activities w1 3202
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Paid-up equity - =
Financial items with no liquidity effect 56,519 -
Credit facility 238,011 27268
Net cash flow from financing ootivities 204,530 27268
Net change in cash in hand and at bank - -2B83073
‘Cashinhand and ot benk at 0101 - 283073

Cash in hand and at bank at 3112 -

5& Annuagl Report 2021
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NOTES

NOTE 1 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and good
accounting practice in Norway.

General rule for valuing and classifying assets and liabilities
Assets intended for long-term ownership or use are classified
as fixed assets. Other assets are classified as current assets.
Receivables to be repaid within a year are classified as current
assets.

Similar criteria are used to classify current and noncurrent
liabilities.

Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and
fair value.

Fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost, but are written
down to the recoverable amount if this is lower than the book
value and the impairment is not expected to be transient.
Fixed assets with a limited useful life are depreciated over the
expected period of use.

Other current and noncurrent liabilities are valued at face
value.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are converted ot
the rate in place on the balance sheet date.

Intangible assets

Expenses for own production of intangible assets, including
expenses for internal research and development, are recognised
when it is likely that the future financial benefits associoted
with the assets will fall to the company and the acquisition cost
can be reliably measured.

Intangible assets purchased individually are recognised at
acquisition cost. Intangible assets taken over as part of the
acquisition of a company are recognised at acquisition cost
when the criteria for recognition are met.

Intangible assets with a limited useful life are deprecioted over
the expected period of use. Intangible assets are written down
to the recoverable amount if the expected financial benefits do
not cover the carrying amount and any remaining preduction
costs.
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Shares and shares in associated companies and subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued by the cost method.
Where an impairment is not considered to be transient, and it is
considered necessary according to good dccounting practice,
investments are written down to fair value. Dividends received
and group contributions from the subsidiaries are recognised
as other financial income. The same applies to investments in
associated companies.

Financial instruments, including fixed income funds, which

- are classified as current assets,

+ are included in the company's liquidity,

+ are traded on a stock exchange, authorised marketplace or
similarly regulated market abroad, and

+ have good ownership spread and liquidity

+ are measured at fair value on the balance sheet date.

Goods

Goods are valued at the weighted cverage purchase price.
For raw materials and work in progress, the net sales value is
caleulated as the market value of finished goods minus any
remaining manufacturing costs and sales costs. Goods from
own production are valued at the lower of full manufacturing
cost and fair value.

Revenue

From sales of services:

Inceme is recognised when it is earned, i.e. when claims

for payment (consideration) arise. This happens when the
service is provided, as and when the work is carried out. The
income is recognised at the value of the consideration at the
time of the transaction. For contracts with defined income
over the contract period which are expected to result in net
losses because the cost of provision exceeds the income, a
provision is made for the best estimate of the net cost over
the remaining contract period. Where the contract includes an
option for the customer to extend the agreement, there is an
assessment of the probability of the option being exercised.

Receivables

Trade accounts receivable and other claims are reported

at face value minus any provision for expected losses. Loss
provisions are made on the basis of an individual assessment
of the specific receivables.
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Cash in hand and at bank

Cash in hand and at bank includes cash, bank deposits and
other means of payment with due dates less than three months
from acquisition.

Warranties and service work

For sales, the whole of the sale price, including the part relating
to future warranty and service work, is taken to income at the
time of the sale.

A provision is made for future warranty and service work.

Pensions

As from 01.01.201%, o defined-contribution pension scheme has
been implemented in the company. The company's defined-
contribution scheme is organised in accordance with the
MNorwegian Act on Defined-Contribution Pensions.

On 31.12.2018, the company implemented an cccupational
pension scheme for older employees who could not be enrclled
in a private AFP scheme. This relates to employees born

before 1964. The occupational pension has a fixed term for

the company, with payments due in the period 2019-2030. The
effect of this was recognised on implementation at 31.12 2018.

Costs

As ageneral rule, costs are recognised in the same period as
the corresponding income. In cases where there is no clear
relationship between expenditure and income, the allocation
is determined according to discretionary criteria. Other
exceptions to the matching principle are indicated where
applicable.

Taxes

The tax expense is matched against the accounting profit
before tax. Tax related to eguity transactions is recognised

in equity. The tax expense consists of tax payable (tax on the
year's direct taxable income) and changes in net deferred tax.
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented netin the
balance sheet.

Accounting currency and presentation currency

All figures are reported in thousands of Norwegian kroner
(TNOK).
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NOTE 2 - PAYROLL COSTS, NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION,

LOANS TO EMPLOYEES ETC.
Payroll costs 2021 2020
Salaries, incl. employer's national insurance contributions 567413 600,585
Pension costs - defined-benefit acheme 7000 7400
Pension costs - defined- contribution scheme 3313s 29453
Other benefits, inel pravision far restructuring costs 6065 B1s8
Total 613,613 645,807
MNumber of full-time equivalents employed in the financial year 750 %9
Paoyments to senior executives Fixed salary  Varioble pay Pensicns Other benefits
Managing Director John Arne Ulvan 1074 = 95 -
Monaging Director Kjetil Havland 15463 - &3 -
CFO Vidar Leirvik 1504 438 151
Director, Praducts and Projects Jan Tare lversen 1371 75 1481 -
Director Fleet Sarvice Knut Arild Johannesen 1152 - 138 -
Director HR and Group HSE Tone Sande 1131 - 141 -
Head of Technelogy Terje Hullstain 500 - 65 -
Beard of Directors 1825 - - -

The Managing Director is a member of the company's defined-contribution pension scheme, which covers all employees.
The premium far this has naot been identified and =o is not included in the figures abave In the Managing Director's cortract of employment, a mutual natice
period of & months has been agreed, fram the first day of the month after notice was given.

Poyroll costs are related to sach person's salary in their time as Managing Director in 2021
Other remuneration includes costs related to the company’s defined-cantribution pension seheme.

Auditor - Remuneration to Delaitte AS and partner companies is as follows: 2071 2020
Statutory audit 435 269
Other services than regular audits P 1ay
Total 529 418

NOTE 3 - OPERATING EXPENSES

Breokdown of other operating expensss 2021 2020
Sales and administratian costs 1024 1013
Gost of premises, leased machinery and energy 197491 226480
Other operating expenses 247141 162,233
Total 442, 4657 389726
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NOTE 4 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery and

Operational con- Facilities under con-

uipment wtems &

Acqguisition cost 0LO1L21 200,747 64,806 18447 2148 286,148
Purchase of operating equipment 133 11,507 400 16772 28,812
Disposals - = = -12040 -12.040
Acquisition cost 31.12.21 200,880 76,313 18,847 6,879 302920
o depreciotiun 311221 162,548 37240 17537 = 27325
Write-downs 311221 - 14000 - - 14,000
Ot depraaiatien; impalrmentand 162,548 51,260 17537 " 231,326

write-downs 311221

g
:
2

Book value as of 3L12.21

Depreciation for the year 3azz
Writs -downa far tha year

1310 79 T1.596

Operational contral systems have been written off to the value of NOK B B5& The cost is eoverad by funds for restructuring; see Note 14,

Depreciation for the year in the income statement
Useful life 5-30 years
Depreciation plan linear

Rental of operating equipment ond premises
Annual rental of unrecognised operating equipment
Rertal of praperty

Total

NOTE S - SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES ETC.

Company Mwl.":‘:;
Mantena Sverige AB 010707
Martena Danmark A/S 050218
Martena Finland OY 090518

Company

Martena Sverige AB
Manteno Danmark AfS
Martena Finland OY

Figures represent 100% of the book equity in the companies as ot 31122021

L8

5 years 5-30 years =

linear linear

2021 2020
2069 5868
114 b04 113446
123,473 119,314
“’9":"“’ Shore of wites Holding Boukvalie
Osle 100% 100% -
Copenhagen 100% 100% 652
Helsinki 100% 100% 24
Equity occording to Net profit ascord-
Currency Exchonge rate  lost finoncial stote- ing to last finoncial
mants statements
SEK 057 3252 -78,235
DKK 139 Las -90
Eure 285 -230 -2
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NOTE 6 - OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Current assets
Financial instruments and commeodity derivatives meosured at fair volue

accarding to Section 5-8 of the Norwegian Accounting Act Aequisition cost Fairvalue Change in volue in the perlod
Morwegion fixed income funds - - -
Total - - —

NOTE7 - GOODS
Goods 2021 2020
Components 503493 414,660
Other inventories - -
Total 503,493 414,660

NOTE 8 - RECEIVABLES DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Receivables due after more than one year 2021 2020
Other receivables 78320 FR6TL
Loans to enterprises in the same group 325 395
Total 78,715 100,069

NOTE 9 - SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The share capital in the company ot 31.12.21 consists of the following share classes: Number Par valus Book volue
Ordinary shares 100,000 11 110000
Total 100000 110,000
Owner structure

The shargholder in the company at 31.12.21 was: Ordinary shares Halding Share of votes

The Nerwegian State {Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries) 100,000 100% 100%

Total number of shares 100,000 100% 100%

Asfram 1 January 2020, the Narwegian Ministry of Trade, Industn_.r and Fisheries is the owner and sale shareholder in the company.
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NOTE 10 - EQUITY

Equity ot 010121
Other equity

Share capital Other paid-up equity
110000 4L33474 -77.301 466173

- - 241 472 261,672

NOTE 11 - PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Dissolution of defined-benefit plan

The company has withdrawn its employees from the defined-
benefit pension scheme in the Norwegion Public Service Pension
Fund (SPK) as of 31.12.2018, except for persons receiving
disability and sickness payments. All employees will have
deferred entitlements in the SPK when they leave the scheme,
and will enter @ new defined-contribution scheme from 2019,

The balance in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund
was calculated in 2019 and the sum of MNOK 491.3 paid out,
excluding employer’s national insurance contributions.

Persons receiving disability and sickness payments will remain
inthe Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund, and the scheme
has been closed. Based on actuarial calculations, a liability
equal to MNOK 37.5 hos been posted for these employees at
31.12.2021. There will be some uncertainty as to the liability at
the time when they are eventually withdrawn from the SPK. The
remaining members of the defined-benefit pension schemes in
the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund have been granted
the right to defined future benefits. These are mainly dependent
on the number of qualifying years, the salary on retirement and
the amount of the benefits from the National Insurance scheme.

Defined-contribution pension scheme
Since 01.01.2019, a defined-contribution pension scheme has
been implemented in the company.

The company's defined-contribution scheme is organised in
accordance with the Norwegian Act on Defined-Contribution
Pensions. The scheme covers all employses.

Accounting for the AFP scheme

When the pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Pension Fund
was closed, the company also withdrew from the contractual
early retirement pension scheme (AFP) from 31.12.2018. On the
same date, the company entered into the private AFP scheme.
The scheme is therefore recognised as a defined-benefit
scheme.

Occupational pension

On 31.12.2018, the company implemented an occupational
pension scheme for older employees who could not be enrolled
in a private AFP scheme. This relates to employees born before
1964, and assumes a future early retirement rate of 72.0% at
31.12.2021. In the financial statements as ot 31.12.2021, MNOK
210.1 has been allocated for future payments related to the
occupational pension scheme. The occupational pension has

a fixed term for the company, with payments due in the period
2019-2030.

Support to meet the regulatory obligation from closing the
pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund
The company received grants in 2019 from the Ministry

of Transport and Communications to meet its regulatory
obligations from the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund.
Payments received in 201% were equal to MNOK 213.9. No
payments received in 2020 and 2021.

Support for transitional arrangements for clder employees after
the closure of pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Service
Pension Fund

The company is entitles to government support from the
Ministry of Transpert and Communications for a transitional
scheme for older employees following the dissolution of the
pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund
and transition to the occupational pension and private AFP
scheme. Appreved funding amounted te MNOK 320, of which
MMOK 290.5 has been taken to profit/loss in connection with
the winding-up of defined-benefit schemes in the Nerwegian
Public Service Pension Fund as of 31.12.2018. while MNOK 2%.5
of approved funding is linked to o compensation scheme which
was not recognised in profit/loss in 2018. This will be recognised
in the future, while employees who are still in work accrue
entitlements.
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Breakdown of net pension liabifities and support received
The Nerwegian Public Service Pension Fund, net liability related to closed schame with settlement in 2019 - =

The Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund, net liability for persons receiving disability (sickness benefits remalining in the scheme 37500 30500
Creeupational pension scheme implemented 31122018 210,200 283100
Support to meet regulatery obligations in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund - -
Suppart far transitional scheme for older employees an withdrawal fram the Marwegian Public Service Pension Fund -80400 -184300
Net pension liability on the balance shest 181

|
:

Pension costs recognised in the income stotement 2021 2020
Present value of accrued pension entitlernents in the year - SPK 7000 7400
Estimate difference, pensions - SPK - -

Pension costs - defined-benefit scheme - SPK 7.000 7400

Pension-related financial items for the year - defined-benefit scheme - SPK - -

Increased suppert to meet regulatory obligatiens in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund - =

Occupatinm! pension scheme - change in assessment of early retirement rate -602 -18 80%
Defined-contribution pensien scheme 33135 29653
Private AFP scheme 028 GG
Net pansion costs 48,561 7590

The following parameters have been used in the calculations for the defined-benefit scheme in Norway

Discount rate 19% 15%
Expected return on pensicn assets 31% 15%
Annual expested wage growth 28% 20%
Expected annual adjustment of old-age and survivor's pensions during payment period, over &7 years 25% 10%
Annual expected G-adjustment, adjustment of AFPR, disability and survivor's pensions, under &7 years 18% 18%
Average employers contribution factor 141% 14.1%

&4 Annual Report 2021

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/ 64/98



17.01.2023, 09:51

Mantena Annual Report 2021

Mantena AS

NOTE 12 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH
RELATED PARTIES

Owner

As the owner of Mantena AS, the Norwegian State, through the
Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries, is a related party. Other
enterprises owned by the State will clso be related parties to
Mantena AS.

The Board of Directors and senior executives
Members of the company’s management or Board of Directors are
also related parties with Mantena AS.

Transactions with related parties:

Transaction/transoction group

Sale of gooda and services to companies in the same group
Sale of gonds and services to other related partias

Total

Tronsaction ftransaction group
Purchase of goods and services from companies in the same group

Purchase of goods and services from cther related parties

Total

s ding bal with related parties:
Receivables and liabilities:

Countarparty

Companies in the same group
Other related parties
Total

Receivables from the State of THOK BOLO0D, see Note 11

Loans
Counterparty

Mantena Finland OY

Martena Sverige AB
Total

Companies in the same group
Mantena S\mrige AB, Mantena Danmark A/S and Mantena Finland
QY are inthe some group as Mantena AS.

2021 2020
72543 40,014
428,685 946756
701,228 986,770
2021 2020
7481 10,012
300,621 560,220
308,302 570,232

Liabilities 2021 Liabilities 2020 Receivables 2021 Receaivables 2020

348 1773 25,630 23067
30,017 47064 62,643 118,139
30965 48,837 88,273 141206
201 2020
395 395
395 395
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NOTE 13 - TAX EXPENSES

Tax expenses for the year ore as follows 2021 2020
Tax payable - -
Change in deferrad tax ~40920 12878
Effect of chonge in tax rules - -
Tax expenses -40920 12878
Tax payable in the balonce sheet is as follows 2021 2020
Tax poyable for the year - -

Tax payable on the bolence sheet - "

Reconciliation from nominal to actual tox rate 2021 2020
Profit before tax -3025%2 58515
Expected income tox at nominal tax rate -64,570 12874
Tax effect of the following items 2021 2020
Other non-deductible costs 16 5
Effect of differences not included in temporary differences 25,634 -
Other items = -1
Tax expenses -50520 12878
Effective tox rote 14% 2%

Breakdown of the tax sffect of temporary differances ond loss carry-forwords

Operating equipment - 20479 - 44,058
Goods 32815 - 25,015 -
Receivables 1500 - 1500 -
Pension liability 167.300 3 157.300 -
Provision for liability 1358158 - 53183 -
Leas carried forward 228233 - 166,245 -

¥
3
.
£
¥
:
)

Total gross temporary differences 565,663

Nat tampaorary differsncen 545,184 - 359,185 -
Net deferred tax assets (22%) 119941 & 79,021 &
Reversal of ossessed deferred tax - - - -
Net recognised tox assets 119941 - 7,021 -

Deferred tax assets are posted on the basis of future income.
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NOTE 14 - OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other currant liabilities 2021 2020
Allocated for restructuring 24518 21974
Unearned income 25016 27967
Allatted haliday maney 53545 57114
Drawing rights used 265279 27268
Other short-term provisions 1227565 6,459
Total 492,024 230,782
The limit for the drawing rights is TNOK 600,000
NOTE 15 - PLEDGES AND GUARANTEES ETC.
Guarantas liability Guarantes amount Expiry dote
Vy AS Overhaul, Flirt Boggl 20000 20112025
54 AB Maintenance contract X40 34418 01022022
SJAB Maintenance contract X55 52026 01022022

Total guarantess 108,444

NOTE 16 - TOTAL FINANCIAL ITEMS

Financial items 2021 2020
Net interest income and expenses 81 1452
Net ather financial income and expenses -1821 -363
MNet foreign exchange gains/lasses ~Tul8 7539
MNet impairment on investrments -116519 -
Total financial items 125677 8,629
NOTE 17 - BANK DEPOSITS

Cash in hand and at bank includes restricted withholding tax of TNOK 21 508,
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NOTE 18 - EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The financial statements for 2021 have been drawn up on the
assumption of a going concern. The company has budgeted for
a positive operating profit for 2022.

The coronavirus pandemic and the far-reaching infection
control measures ordered by the authorities led to an
extraordinary situation in 2021 too, which is continuing to some
extent into 2022.

Mantena’s customers have been affected by fewer passengers
and hence reduced traffic volumes. In Norway, the State has
provided support schemes to Mantena's customers in Nerway.
Less of this support was provided in 2021 than in 2020, In
Sweden, there is o complex picture, where Mantena's customers
do not have support schemes in some contracts, and receive

o guaranteed gross income in others. Mantena's assessment is
that customers have the liguidity and ability to pay Mantenc's
trade accounts receivables in 2022 too.

Changed customer behaviour has resulted in somewhat less
demand for Mantena's maintenance services, and there will be
temporary lay-offs in some contracts in 2022,

Mantena follows the outhorities’ recommendations. A number
of measures have been implemented to prevent infection,

NOTE 19 - LOSSES ON CONTRACTS

A total of MNOK 88 (MNOK 0) has been posted to expenses
for future losses on contracts related to train maintenance
tenders in Norway and Sweden. This is a net expense for future
contracts, taking into account of reversals of earlier loss
provisions. These are long-term contracts and small changes in
assumptions can produce a big change in values. There is high

NOTE 20 - SALES REVENUE

‘Sales revenus by geographic market

maintain preduction and contribute to corporate social
responsibility. Shift arrangements have been adjusted to
reduce contact between employees, Administrative staff have
worked from home for much of the pericd. Good compliance
with the infection control measures has made it pessible to
maintain production. Very little infection has been recorded
ameng employees, and individual cases have been handled in
accordance with the corporate governance document.

Mantena has not been eligible for any public support schemes,
and has therefore not received any such funding.

The coronavirus pandemic and the far-reaching infection
control measures ordered by the authorities place demands on
the Group's services and restructuring. The consequences of
the coronavirus pandemic for Mantena are expected to continue
until the national vaccination progremme has been completed
with the expected effect. Until then, appropriate infection
contrel measures and production changes will be maintained.

Because of the war in Ukraine, there is uncertainty in relationto
deliveries of some components. We are working to find alterna-
tive suppliers. High prices for electricity and metals will increase
the price of parts for maintenance. High electricity prices incur
significantly higher costs in the workshops.

risk and a large outcome space. The cost estimate is the most
significant parameter, and the uncertainty is high. A change of
+{- 1% in costs each year would translate into around MNOK 4
in value. The bulk of the payment flows are expected to occurin
the next three years.

Morway

Sweden

Finland
Denmark
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

All figures in TNOK

12,20 Operating income 14632521 1535648
Total opsrating income 1632921 1535646

Cost of goods sold LOTLTL 293405

21 Salaries and other payroll costs 77522 41920
& Depreciation and impairment 35622 16278
3,12,19 Other operoting expenses 569099 443,883
“Total operating expenses 1873714 1495 485
Operating profit -240,793 40,162

Note FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENBES 2021 2020

Finoneial income 5707 8956
Finaneisl expenses -16114 797
Unrealised changes in volue = =
Met finonciol expensas, penaions E =
16 Net financial income -10410 B 159

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX =251.203 &8,
2

320
13 Tax expenses -27, 10,768

TAX EXPENSES 200 020
Bls

Tha profit fer the perlod la allocatad te the sharshelders in the parent company -223,387 a7ss52
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

All figures in TNOK

Note Fixed ossets 2021 2020
13 Intangible assets 138,804 113808
i Property, plant and equipment 79985 102,467
] Noncurrent receivables 78320 9,478

Total fived assets 297108 315549

Note Current assets 2021 2020
7 Stocks of goods and componaents 607708 497157
12 Trode accounts receivable and other claims 294,288 340940
& Financial ossets - -
17 Cash and bank deposits - -

Total recelvables - 901997 838,097

Nots EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2021 2020

] Share capital 110,000 110000
Other paid-up equity L33 474 L336T74

Other equity -33%243 -115.856

10 Total equity 204,231 427,618

Nots Provision for liabilities 2021 2020

11 Pension liabilities 147300 157300
Total noncurrent liabilities 167,300 157,300

Note Current liobilitiea 2021 2020
12,14,17,19  Accourts payable and other current liabilities 827,574 549,128
12 Tax payable - -
Totd-.mmnt linbilities BIT575 549,128

Total liabilities 994,876 726,428

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1199105 13154,046

‘Oslo, 24.03.2021

Kari Brabarg Ronny Salberg John Arne Ulvan
Chair Deputy chair ADMDIR/CEO
(Signd {gignl 18ign]
Marianne Kartum Stian Harklau Tord Helland
(Signd Bignd (gign)
Petter Trennes Mile Cle Marken Torbjern Stere
Signl {Segn¥ (Sigrd
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

All figures in TNOK

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Prefit for the year before tax -251203 48,320
Tox poid in the period = =
Depreciation and impairment in the income statement 21622 16278
Pensicn costa without cash effect 10000 -3560
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14,000 -
Gains from sales of financial assets - -
Acerued interast - =
Financial items with ne liquidity effect - -2,780
Unrealised forsign exchange gainfioss on receivahbles 3776 -3984
Change in stocks of goods -110,552 -3kt 657
Change in receivables and prepaid expenses 46,652 -56,631
Change in accounts poyable -18.839 -7024
Change in other ossets and ather liabilities 38702 -21,844
Net cash flows from operating activities -245,841 -375,881
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - &
Purchase of property, plont and equipment -21,817 -26,989
Praceeds from long-term receivables 17183 17565
Pra0Reds o les of finanolal ourreiit deskts. - -
Net cash flow from investment activities -b,634 -9.424
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2021 2020
Paid-up equity = =
Credit fucilitvl 250475 107243
Net cash flow from financing activities 250,476 107,243
Net change in eash in hand and at bank - -278 343
Cash in hand and at benk at 0101 - 278,063

Cash in hand and at bank at 3112
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NOTES

NOTE 1 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

Mantena AS and its subsidiaries are active within train and
component maintenance. The company has its head office at
Jernbanetorget 1in Oslo.

« All shares in Mantena AS are cowned by the NMorwegian State
(Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries) as of 31.12.2020.

« All shares in Mantena Sverige AB are owned by Mantena AS.

+ All shares in Mantena Danmark A/S are owned by Mantena
AS.

+ All shares in Mantena Finland OY are owned by Mantena AS.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and good
accounting practice in Norway.

General rule for valuing and classifying assets and liabilities
Assets intended for long-term ocwnership or use are classified
as fixed assets. Other assets are classified as current assets.
Receivables to be repaid within a year are classified as current
assets.

Similar criteria are used to classify current and noncurrent
licbilities.

Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and
fair value.

Fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost, but are written
down to the recoverable amount if this is lower than the book
value and the impairment is not expected teo be transient.
Fixed assets with a limited useful life are depreciated over the
expected period of use.

Other current and noncurrent liabilities are valued at face
value.

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liakilities in foreign currency are converted ot
the rote in place on the bolance sheet date.

Intangible assets

Expenses for own preduction of intangible assets, including
expenses for internal research and development, are recognised
when it is likely that the future financial benefits assccioted
with the assets will fall to the company and the acquisition cost
can be reliably measured.

Intangible assets purchased individually are recognised at
acguisition cost. Intangible assets taken over as part of the
acquisition of a company are recognised at acquisition cost
when the criteria for recognition are met.
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Intangible assets with a limited useful life are depreciated over
the expected period of use. Intangible assets are written down
to the recoverable amount if the expected financial benefits do
not cover the carrying amount and any remaining production
costs,

Shares and shares in associated companies and subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued by the cost method.
Where an impairment is not considered to be transient, and it is
considered necessary according to good accounting proctice,
investments are written down to fair value. Dividends received
and group contributions from the subsidiaries are recognised
as other financial income. The same applies to investments in
associated companies.

Financial instruments, including fixed income funds, which

« are classified as current assets,

+ areincluded in the company's liquidity,

« are traded on a stock exchange, authorised marketplace or
similarly regulated market abroad, and

+ have diverse ownership and good liquidity, are measured at
fair value on the balance sheet date.

Goods

Goods are volued at the weighted average purchase price.
For raw materials and work in progress, the net sales value is
caleulated as the market value of finished goods minus any
remaining manufacturing costs and sales costs. Goods from
own production are valued at the lower of full manufacturing
cost and fair value.

Revenue

From sales of services:

Income is recognised when it is earned, i.e. when claims

for payment (consideration) arise. This happens when the
service is provided, s and when the work is carried out. The
income is recognised at the value of the consideration at the
time of the transaction. For contracts with defined income
over the contract period which are expected to result in net
losses because the cost of provision exceeds the income, a
provision is made for the best estimate of the net cost over
the remaining contract period. Where the contract includes an
option for the customer to extend the agreement, there is an
assessment of the probability of the option being exercised.

Receivables

Trade accounts receivable and other claims are reperted

at face value minus any provision for expected losses. Loss
provisions are made on the basis of an individual assessment
of the specific receivables.
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Cash in hand and at bank

Cash in hand and at bank includes cash, bank deposits and
other means of payment with due dates less than three months
from acquisition.

Woarranties and service work

For sales, the whole of the sale price, including the part relating
to future warranty and service work, is taken to income at the
time of the sale. A provision is made for future warranty and
service work.

Pensions

As from 01.01.2019, a defined-contribution pension scheme has
been implemented in the company. The company’'s defined-
contribution scheme is organised in accordance with the
Morwegian Act on Defined-Contribution Pensions.

On 31.12.2018, the company implemented an occupational
pension scheme for older employees who could not be enrolled
ina private AFP scheme. This relates to employees born
befere 1964. The occupational pension has a fixed term for

the company, with payments due in the period 2012-2030. The
effect of this was recognised on implementation at 31.12 2018,

Costs

As a general rule, costs are recognised in the same pericd as
the corresponding income. In cases where there is no clear
relationship between expenditure and income, the allocation
is determined according to discretionary criteria. Other
exceptions to the matching principle are indicated where
applicable.

Taxes

The tax expense is matched against the accounting prefit
before tax. Tax related to equity transactions is recognised

in equity. The tax expense consists of tax payable (tax on the
year's direct taxable income) and changes in net deferred tax.
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented net in the
balance shest.

Accounting currency and presentation currency
All figures are reported thousonds of Norwegian kroner (TNOK),
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NOTE 2 - PAYROLL COSTS, NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION,

LOANS TO EMPLOYEES ETC.

Poyroll costs 01 2020
Salaries, incl. employer's notional insuronce contributions 715581 420953
Pension costs - defined-benefit scheme 7000 7400
Pension costs - defined-contribution schame L1070 33882
Other benefits 7870 G685
Total 771522 L1920

MNumber of full-time equivalents employed in the financial year 969 45

Payments to senior executives Fixed sailary Variable pay Pensions Other benefits
Managing Director John Arne Ulvan 1074 = 95 =
Managing Director Kjetil Hovland 1563 - 63 -
CFO Vidar Leirvik 1504 438 151 -
Director, Products ond Projects Jon Tore lversen 1371 75 161 -
Director Fleet Service Knut Arild Johannesen 1152 - 138 -
Director HR and Group HSE Tone Sande 1131 - 141 -
Head of Technalogy Terje Hullstein 500 - 65 -
Board of Directars 1825 - - -

The Managing Directer is a member of the company's defined-contribution pension scheme, which covers all employees.
The premium for this has not been identfied and so is not included in the figures abave |n the Managing Director's contract of employment, a mutual notice peried
of & months has bean agreed, from the first day of the month after notice wos given.

Payroll costs are related to each persan's salary in their time as Managing Director in 2021
Other remuneration includes costs related to the company’s defined-caontribution pension scheme.

Auditor - Remuneration to Deloitte AS and partner companies is as Tollows:

Statutory audit 523 431
Other services thon regular audits o4 209
Total 617 640

NOTE 3 - OPERATING EXPENSES

Breakdown of other operating expenses 2021 2020
Sales and administration costs 1025 1014
Cost of premises, leased machinery, repairs and maintanance 253040 282,232
Other operating expenses 315033 160635
Total 5469099 453,883
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NOTE 4 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Operational con- Fagilitias undar con-

equip trol systems struction
Mcquisition cost 0LOL21 212,555 04,807 18,532 2147 298,040
Purchase of cperating eguipment 3936 11,507 400 16,772 32615
Disposals ~4a2 = - -12040 -12,502
Agquisition cost 311221 216,029 76,314 18932 6,879 318153
Cum. depreciation 311221 167944 37201 18981 - 224168
Write-downs 311221 = 14,000 - - 14,000
Cum. depreciation, impairment and reversals 3L12.21 167948 51241 18981 - 238148
Book value as of 311221 48,083 25073 -50 8,879 79985
Depreciation far the year L7790 G239 5441 - 19470
Write-downs for the year - 14,000 - - 14000
Depreciation far the year on capitalised costs - - - = 2132

Cperational cantrol systems have been written off to the value of NOK 8856, -
The cast is cavered by funds far rastructuring; see Mate 14

Depreciation for the year in the annual accounts 35422

Useful life 5-30 years 5 years 5-30 years -

Depreciation plan linear linear linear

Rental of fixed assets and premises 2021 2020
Annual rental of unrecognised operating equipment 10,644 HLET
Rental of property 159947 159924
Total 170,591 166 382

NOTE 5 - SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES ETC.

Comparny Mqulsl;l:: thiffﬁs:: Share of votes Holding Baok valus
Mantena Sverige AB 0LO707 Qsla 1009% 100% -
Martena Danmark AS 050218 Copenhagen 100% 100% 452
Martena Finland OY 090518 Helsinki 100% 100% 2
Equity according to Met profit occord-

Company Currency Exchaonge rate  last financial stote- ing to last financial
ments statements

Martena Sverige AB SEK 097 3252 -78,235
Mantena Danmark A/S DKK 139 488 -90
Marttena Finland OY Euro 285 =230 -92

Figuras represent 100% of the book equity in the companies as ot 3112 2021
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NOTE 6 - OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Current assets
Financial instruments and commodity derivatives measured ot fair vaiue Period

Acquisition cost Fair value

according to Section 5-8 of the Norwegian Accounting Act recognised change in volue

Morwegian fixed income funds - - -

z =
9| |
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Goods 2021 2020
Components 607708 497157
Other irventaries - -
Total 607,708 497157

NOTE 8 - RECEIVABLES DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Recelvables due after more thaon one year 2021 2020
Other receivables 78,320 99474
Total 78,320 99,47

NOTE 9 - SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The share copital in the company ot 3112 21 comprises the following share classes: Number Par valus Book volue
Ordinary shares 100000 11 uoeoo
Total 100,000 11 110,000
Owner structure

The shareholder in the company ot 31.12.20 woa: Ordinary shares Holding Shore of votes
The Nerwegian State (Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries) 100,000 100% 100%
Total number of shoras 100,000 100% 100%

As from 1 January 2020, the Norwegian Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries is the owner and sale shareholder in the company.

NOTE 10 - EQUITY

Paid-up aquity Share capital Other paid-up equity Other squity Total aquity
Equity at 010119 110,000 L33 470 -115.875 427597
Share capital - - - -
Share capital - - - =
Other equity - - -223,387 -223387
Equity at 311220 110,000 K33 476 -339,263 206,210

In ‘Other equity’ at 01012020, the opening balance has been adjusted by TNOK 3140
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NOTE 11 - PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

General

The Group has pension schemes for its employees. The
following is a more detailed description of the type of schemes
the companies in Norway and Sweden have, and how these are
organised.

Pension scheme Sweden

All of the Group's employees in Sweden have pension rights as
described below and the company's liabilities are financed in
multi-enterprise plans.

The scheme is a multi-enterprise plan, and the employer is

responsible for the benefits until they are covered by payments.

According to the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council, this is a defined-benefit scheme.

PENSION SCHEME, NORWAY

Dissolution of defined-benefit plan

The company has withdrawn its employees from the defined-
benefit pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Service
Pension Fund (SPK) as of 31.12.2018, except for persans
receiving disability and sickness payments. All employees will
have deferred entitlements in the SPK when they leave the
scheme, and will enter a new defined-contribution scheme from
2019.

The balance in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund
was calculoted in 2019 and the sum of MNOK 491.3 paid out,
excluding employer's naticnal insurance contributions.

Persons receiving disability and sickness payments will remain
inthe Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund, and the scheme
has been closed. Based on actuarial calculations, a liability
equal to MNOK 37.5 has been posted for these employees at
31.12.2021. There will be some uncertainty as to the liability at
the time when they are eventually withdrawn from the SFK. The
remaining members of the defined-benefit pension schemes
inthe Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund have been
granted the right to defined future benefits. These are mainly
dependent on the number of qualifying years, the salary on
retirement and the amount of the benefits from the National
Insurance scheme.

Defined-contribution pension scheme

Since 01.01.2019, a defined-contribution pension scheme has
been implemented in the company. The company’'s defined-
contribution scheme is organised in accordance with the
Morwegian Act on Defined-Contribution Pensions. The scheme
covers all employees.

Accounting for the AFP scheme

When the pension scheme in the Morwegian Public Pension
Fund was closed, the company also withdrew from the
contractual early retirement pension scheme (AFP) from
31.12.2018. On the same date, the company entered into the
private AFP scheme. The scheme is therefore recognised as a
defined-benefit scheme.

Occupational pension

On 31.12.2018, the company implemented an occupational
pension scheme for clder employees who could not be enrclled
in a private AFP scheme. This relates to employees born before
1964, and assumes a future early retirement rate of 72.0% at
31.12.2021. In the financial statements as at 31.12.2021, MNOK
210.1 hos been allocated for future poyments related to the
occupational pension scheme. The occupational pension has
a fixed term for the company, with payments due in the period
2019-2030.

Support to meet the regulatory obligation from closing the
pension scheme in the Merwegian Public Service Pension Fund
The company received grants in 2012 from the Ministry of
Transport and Communications to meet its regulatory obliga-
tions from the Morwegian Public Service Pension Fund.
Payments received in 2019 were equal to MNOK 213.9.

Mo payments received in 2020 and 2021,

Support for transitional arrangements for older employees
after the closure of pension scheme in the Norwegian Public
Service Pension Fund

The company is entitles to government support from the
Ministry of Transport and Communications for a transitional
scheme for older employees following the dissolution of the
pension scheme in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund
and transition to the occupational pension and private AFF
scheme. Approved funding amounted to MNOK 320, of which
MMNOK 290.5 has been taken to profit/loss in connection with
the winding-up of defined-benefit schemes in the Norwegian
Public Service Pensicn Fund as of 31.12.2018. while MNOK 29.5
of approved funding is linked to a compensation scheme which
was not recognised in profit/loss in 2018. This will be recognised
in the future, while employees who are still in work accrue
entitlements.
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Breakdown of net pension liabilities and support received for the Mantena Group 2021 2020
The Nerwegian Public Service Pension Fund, net liability related to closed scheme with settlement in 2019 = &
The Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund, net liability for persens receiving disability/sickness benefits remaining in the scheme 37500 30500
Ocecupational pension scheme implemented 31122018 210,200 283100
Suppoert to meet regulatory obligations in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund - -
Support for transitional scheme older workers when elosing the Norwegian Fublic Service Pension Fund -B0400 -156,300
Net pension liability on the balance shest 167,300 157,300
Pension costs in the income statement for the Mantena Group 2021 2020
Prasent value of accrued pension entitlemants in the year - defined-benefit scheme yolele] 7400
Estimate difference, pensions - -

Financial items for the year, pensicns = =

Pension costs - defined-contribution schame 735 4,229
Pension costs - defined-contribution scheme 33135 29653
Private AFP scheme 2028 Q3Ls
Oeeupational pension scheme - change in assessment of early retirement rate -602 -18.807

Inereased suppert to meet requlatary obligations in the Norwegian Public Service Pension Fund - -

Net pension costs 564%7 3LB1e
e following parameters have been used in the calculations for the defined-banefit scheme in Morway 2001
19%

2020
Discount rate 15%
Expected return an pension assats 31% 15%
Annual expected wage growth 28% 20%
Expected annual adjustment of ald-age and survivar's pensions during payment periad, over 47 years 25% 10 %
Annual expected G-adjustment, adjustment of AFP, disability and survivor's pensions, under 67 years: 18% 18%
Average employer’s contribution factor 141% 141%
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NOTE 12 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH

RELATED PARTIES

Owner Companies in the same group

As the owner of Mantena AS, the Norwegian State, through Mantena Sverige AB, Mantena Danmark A/S and Mantena

the Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries, is a related party. Finland OY are in the same group as Mantena AS.

Other enterprises owned by the State will alse be related parties

to Mantena AS.

The Board of Directors and senior executives

Members of the company’'s management or Board of Directors

are clso related parties with Mantena AS.

Transactions with related parties:
Transaction/transaction group 2021 2020
Sale of goods ond services to other reloted paorties 628,685 Q46,756
Total 628,685 946,756
Transosction/transaction group 2021 2020
Purchase of goode and services from other related parties 300,621 560,220
Total 300,421 560,220

Outstanding balances with related parties:
Receivables and liabilities:

Liabilities 2021 Liabilities 2020 Receivables 2021 Receivables 2020
Other related parties 30,017 47064 62,643 118139
Total 30,017 L7064 62,643 118,139

Receivables from the State of TNOK 80,400, see Note 11
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Tax expenses for the year are oe follows
Tox payaoble

Change in deferred tax

Effect of change in tax rules

Tax expensss

200 2020

-27814 10768

77816 10,768

Tax payable in the balonce sheet is os follows 20 2020
Tax payable for the year - -
Prepaid tax Sweden - -
Tax payabls on the bolance sheat - -
Reconciliation from nominal to actual tax rate 2021 2020
Profit before tax -251203 48,320
Expected income tex ot nominal tax rate -55265 10,630
Tax effect of the following itams 2021 2020
Other non-deductible costa 16 35
Effect of changes in tax rules and rates 104
Effect of differences not included intemporory differences 25434

Other iterms 1798 -1
Tax expansas -27815 10,768
Effective tox rate 11% 22%
Breakdown of the tax sffect of temporary 2021 2020

differences and losses corried forward Apset Liability Aspat Liability
Operating equipment - 20479 - L& 0S8
Goods az2gl1s - 25015 -
Receivables 1500 - 1500 -
Pension liability 167300 - 157300 -
Pravision for liability 135814 - 53183 -
Loss carried forward 228233 - 228,234 -
Totul gross temporary differences 565,663 20,479 465,232 44,058
Net temporary differences 545184 - 421174 -
Met defarred tax assets (22%) 119941 - 92,658 -
Effect of chonged tax rate - - -
Net recognisad tax assets 119961 - 92,658 &

Deferred tax assets ore posted on the basis of future income for Mantena AS.
Far Mantena Sverige AB, deferred tax assets is written down to zero,

https://mantena.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/epaper/Mantena2021_e-paper_eng/

84/98



17.01.2023, 09:51 Mantena Annual Report 2021

Mantena Group

NOTE 14 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other current liabilities 2021 2020
Mccounts payable 479469 66,808
Secial security and ather charges 160035 157352
619589 344988

Other current liabilities

Breakdown of other current liobilities 0 2020
Allacated for restructuring 24,518 21574
Unearned income 12,662 27967
Allotted haliday maney &1621 57114
Drawing rights used 357,719 107,243
Other shart-tarm provisions 163,270 130690
Total 619589 365,988
The limit for the drawing rights hos been roised to TNOK 600,000,
NOTE 15 - PLEDGES AND GUARANTEES ETC.
Guarantes liobility Guarantes amount Expiry date
Vy AS Cvarhaul, Flirt Boggi 20000 20112025
SJAB Maintenance contract X40 36418 Q022022
SJAB Maintenance contract X55 52026 01022022
Total guarantees 108,545
NOTE 16 - TOTAL FINANCIAL ITEMS
Financial itema 2021 2020
MNet interest income and expenses =437 1452
Net other financial income and expenses -1883 -833
Net foreign exchange gains/losses -8,088 7539
Total finoncial items =10410 8159
NOTE 17 - BANK DEPOSITS

Cash in hand and at bank includes restricted withholding tax of TNCK 21 508.
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NOTE 18 - EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The financial statements for 2021 have been drawn up on the
assumption of a going concern. The company has budgeted for
a positive operating profit for 2022.

The coronavirus pandemic and the far-reaching infection
control measures ordered by the authorities led to an
extraordinary situation in 2021 too, which is continuing to some
extent into 2022.

Mantena’s customers have been affected by fewer passengers
and hence reduced traffic volumes. In Norway, the State has
provided support schemes to Mantena's customers in Nerway.
Less of this support was provided in 2021 than in 2020, In
Sweden, there is o complex picture, where Mantena's customers
do not have support schemes in some contracts, and receive

o guaranteed gross income in others. Mantena's assessment is
that customers have the liguidity and ability to pay Mantenc's
trade accounts receivables in 2022 too.

Changed customer behaviour has resulted in somewhat less
demand for Mantena's maintenance services, and there will be
temporary lay-offs in some contracts in 2022,

Mantena follows the outhorities’ recommendations. A number
of measures have been implemented to prevent infection,

NOTE 19 - LOSSES ON CONTRACTS

A total of MNOK 129 (MNOK 0) has been posted to expenses
for future losses on contracts related to train maintenance
tenders in Norway and Sweden. This is a net expense for future
contracts, taking into account of reversals of earlier loss
provisions. These are long-term contracts and small changes in
assumptions can produce a big change in values. There is high

NOTE 20 - SALES REVENUE

maintain preduction and contribute to corporate social
responsibility. Shift arrangements have been adjusted to
reduce contact between employees, Administrative staff have
worked from home for much of the pericd. Good compliance
with the infection control measures has made it possible to
maintain production. Very little infection has been recorded
ameng employees, and individual cases have been handled in
accordance with the corporate governance document.

Mantena has not been eligible for any public support schemes,
and has therefore not received any such funding.

The coronavirus pandemic and the far-reaching infection
control measures ordered by the authorities place demands on
the Group's services and restructuring. The consequences of
the coronavirus pandemic for Mantena are expected to continue
until the national vaccination progremme has been completed
with the expected effect. Until then, appropriate infection
contrel measures and production changes will be maintained.

Because of the war in Ukraine, there is uncertainty in relation
to deliveries of sorne components. We are working to find
alternative suppliers. High prices for electricity and metals will
increase the price of parts for maintenance. High electricity
prices incur significantly higher costs in the workshops.

risk and a large outcome space. The cost estimate is the most
significant parameter, and the uncertainty is high. A change of
+{- 1% in costs each year would translate into around MNOK &
in value. The bulk of the payment flows are expected to occurin
the next three years.

Sales revenus by geographic market
Morway
Sweden
Finland

Denmark

1174964 1299995
457957 235,652
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GUIDELINES FOR DETERMINING SALARIES AND OTHER REMUNERATION TO
SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF MANTENA AS.

Adopted; 17.02.2022

These policies are in line with “Guidelines for salary and other
remurneration to senior executives of enterprises and companies
with a state ownership interest (Ministry of Trade, Industry

and Fisheries 30.04.2021)" and the expectations expressed in
Storting White Paper No B (2019-2020) “Direct State ownership of
companies - Sustainable value creation”, and have been prepared
in accordance with Section &-16a of the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act and related regulations. The expectation of
moderation in the remuneration paid to senicr executives is given
great weight.

The guidelines are drawn up by Mantena's Board of Directors, and
approved by the general meeting when there is any material change,
and at least every four years.

General

Mantena's competitiveness, continued growth and profitability
depend on motivated employees and copable managers. For
this, it is impertont that individuals' salary and compensation
should be perceived os predictable ond fair, but this is not the

only consideration. Solary and other compensation should be a
motivating factor to produce the highest possible returns over time,
and this should be reflected in the criteria applied to ensure that
long-term objectives ore pricritised over short-term. Underlying
operations should toke precedence over short-term gains. Mantena
has a uniform pay policy and a salary system that oims to promote
results and to be attractive, but not to lead the market. When a
senior executive is employed in Manteng, it is on competitive terms,
ond any supplements paid in subsequent years should in principle
use the saume percentage applied to all employees of the company.
Mantena's remunerotion policy is rooted in the company's goals,
values ond strategy

These guidelines apply to the managing director and directors

who report to the managing director of Mantena AS. This group is
referred to as senior executives. All senior executives are employed
by Mantena AS; the subsidiaries have no senior executives. The
guidelines also apply to the Board. The remuneration of the Board is
determined by the general meeting.

Decision-moking process

The compensation scheme for seniar executives consists of basic
salary, pension and benefits in kind. The Managing Director's
compensation package is determined by the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors approves the principles behind the compensation
scheme for other senior executives baosed on the recommendations
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of the Managing Director. The assessments are usually made in
the first quarter of each year, subject to agreement between the
management and the trade unions on the pay settlement.

In 2021, @ 2.7% pay rise was agreed with the trade unions. This
percentage was then applied to the pay of all senicr executives.

For 2022 the same procedure will be followed.

Within the total salary budget for senior executives, the
compensation may vary at the individual level, and this has to be
justified to the Board by the CEQ on the basis of agreed objectives
and results achieved.

Guidelines for salaries and benefits in kind

The compensation of the Monaging Director and senior executives
must reflect the responsibilities ond complexity of the job and the
need to be ottroctive in the lubour market. The compensation must
be transparent and consistent with the principles of good corporate
governance.

The main element is the basic salary which should in principle

rise in step with the pay of all employees in the company, i.e. the
same percentage increase should be used for senior executives

as for all other employees. If there is a need for a greater or lesser
adjustment of salary for some people, where their responsibilities
change or for competitive reasons, this must be justified separately
and discussed with the Board. The basic salary is adjusted each
year, There is also a car allowance which follows the government
regulations.

Senior executives in Mantena AS have benefits in kind in the form of
maobile phones and a newspaper.

Bonus schame
In 2021, no one hod o bonus scheme in Montena.

Pensions

A new pension scheme was implemented from 01.01.2019. The new

scheme is a defined-contribution scheme in accordance with he

Morwegian Act on Defined-Contribution Pensions:

« Contributions, 0 G =7.1 G: 5.5% (without deductible)

= Contributions, 7.1 G =12 G: 15% (without deductible)

+ The defined-contribution scheme includes permanent and
temporary employees filling at least 20% of o full-time
position in accordance with Section 4-2 of the Act on Defined-
Contribution Pensions.
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There is also an AFP scheme in the private sector and an
occupational pension for employees who were 55 or older on the
transition date of 01.01.2019 and do not fall within the scheme
for private AFP.

The retirement age for the Managing Director and senior
executives is 67 years. All employees of Mantena AS canchoose
to retire at the age of 62 with AFP. Mo pension costs are incurred
for senior executives when they are no longer employed by the
company.

Severance, directors’ fees and loans

Mantena does not hove any agreements on severonce pay to senior
executives except with the Managing Director. Senior executives are
paid during their notice period, which is 3 months.

In the Managing Director’s contract of employment, a mutual

notice period of 6 months has been agreed, from the first day of the
monrith after notice was given. The Managing Director has waived
his employment protection p under Chapter 15 of the Werking
Environment Act; cf. Section 15-16, second paragraph, of the Act. If
the Board of Directors serves notice of termination, the Managing

Mantena Annual Report 2021
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Director is entitled to 6 months’ severance pay based onthe base
salary in addition to fixed pay and other benefits during the notice
period. Departure before the end of the notice period does not
limit the right to salary and additional benefits during the notice
period. If the Managing Director has other income in the period
covered by severance pay, the salary will be reduced accordingly.
The salary will be reduced in propertion to the share ofincome from
other positions. Only salary paid ofter the end of the notice period
(the severance period) will be subject to any reduction. The right

to severance pay will not apply if the Managing Director himself
resigns his position. The right to severance pay will alsc lapse if the
Managing Director has committed acts that meet the substantive
conditions for dismissal pursuant to the provisions of the Working
Envircnment Act.

Senior executives in Mantena do not receive any remuneration
for Board positions in the Group. Employee-elected board
representatives are excepted from this rule.

No senior executives have loans, options or share option
programmes in Martena.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Martena AS, which is 100 per cent owned by the State (Ministry of
Trade, Industry and Fisheries), follows the current Norwegian Code
of Practice for Corporate Governance from MUES within the limits
and restrictions set by its legal form and ownership.

This statement on corporate governance has been issued by

the Board of Directors of Mantena. The statement contains an
overall account of compliance with the NUES Code of Practice.
Compliance is based on a “follow or explain” principle in accordance
with the 15 sections in the Code of Practice as set out below.

SECTION 1 REPORTING ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
According to the national principles for good corporate governance
(cf. Storting White Paper No 8 (2019-2020), The State’s direct
ownership of companies — Sustainable value creation), there must
be transparency regarding the exercise of State ownership and the
activities of stote-owned companies. As owner, the State manages
large assets on behalf of the community. Transparency has an
bearing on trust in State ownership and also addresses democratic
considerations by giving the public access to information. The
responsibility for transparency falls on both the State as owner and
on the companies, and the State as owner expects that companies
with a State ownership interest will be open about impertant
matters related to the company so that sharehelders and other
stakeholders can continuously assess the companies’ activities,
results, development and target attainment.

Mantena's principles for corporate governance essentially match
those in the Norwegian Cede of Practice for Corperate Governance
of 14 October 2021, Deviations from the Code of Practice are
discussed under each section.

Deviation from the Code: None

SECTION 2 BUSINESS

Mantena's purpose as stated in its articles of association is
to provide “maintenance and workshop services to transport
companies in the Nordic countries and similar activities”.

Mantena has defined three fundamental values that characterise
the company. Mantena's values are trust, efficiency and innevation.
Together with Mantena's business idea and vision, these values are
intended to underpin goals and strategies and are used throughout
the company.

In the course of their work, employees in Mantena have contact
with customers, suppliers and colleagues. To maintain g uniferm
and professional impression, a code of conduct has been

drawn up which supports a sustainable business. This applies

to all employees. The Code of Conduct, including guidelines for
procurement, the company's safety and environmental policy,

and the pelicy for an open corporate culture (guidelines on
whistleblowing) have been approved by the Board and made
available in the company’s management system via the company’s
intranet pages.

Mantena has established guidelines for the company's work

on corperate social responsibility in occordance with Storting
White Paper No 8 (2019-2020), “The State's direct ownership of
companies — Sustainable value creation”. The guidelines describe
how the company works in the areas of human rights, workers'
rights, the environment/climate and in efforts against corruption.

Deviation from the recommendation: None

SECTION 3 EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS

As of 31.12.2021, Mantena AS has share capital of NOK
110,000,000.00 divided inte 100,000 shares with a face value of
NOK 1100 each. All shares are owned by the State, through the
Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries.

In Storting White Paper No 8 (2019-2020), "The State's direct
ownership of companies — Sustainable value creation”, the State
has defined Mantena os o categary 2 company.

The Group's equity at 31.12.2021 was MNOK 204, giving an equity
ratio of 17.0 per cent. The company focuses ot all times on ensuring
that the equity is commensurate with the company’s objectives,
strategy and risk profile. The Board of Directors monitors the
company’s equity and liguidity situation at all time. In the opinion of
the Board, the company's equity is sufficient to realise the current
strategies and objectives.

Mantena is 100 per cent owned by the Stote through the Ministry
of Trade, Industry and Fisheries. The State as shareholder defines
the level of dividends in its wholly-owned companies. Under
Section 20-4 of the Norwegian Limited Liability Companies Act,
in companies where the State owns all of the shares, the owner is
not bound by the Board's proposal to the general meeting on the
distribution of dividends.

Mo autherisations have been granted to the Board of Directors
to increase the share capital. There is no option programme for
employees of the company. Mantena dees not have any treasury
shares as at 31.12.2021. The general meeting has not authorised
the acquisition of own shares.

Deviation from the Code: Mone

Category 2 cavers the companies where the State aims to realise the highest possible return over time, and where the State has special reasons for its ownership. Stote ownership
of each company is safeguarded takes the form of the State owning a specific share in the company, generally laid down in provizionsin the articles of asscciation.
Saurce: Starting White Poper B (2019-2020) State direct ownership of companies — Sustainable value creation
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SECTION 4 EQUAL TREATMENT AND DIVIDENDS

Equal treatment of shareholders

Mantena AS is 100 per cent owned by the Norwegian State through
the Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries. The recommendations
for equal treatment of shareholders are therefore not considered
relevant to Mantena.

Transactions with close associates

Mantena has transactions with companies or bodies that are
closely associated with the company's owner, the Norwegian
State. Among others, Viygruppen AS and Flytoget AS are major
customers for Mantena, and Bane NOR is another key customer
and supplier to Mantena. The agreements with these companies
are considered to be on normal business terms. There are no
significant transactions with their directors, senior executives or
close associates.

Deviations from the Code: None

SECTION 5 SHARES AND NEGOTIABILITY
The company’s articles of association do not contain any
provisions limiting the negotiability of its shares.

Marntena AS is 100 per cent owned by the Norwegian State through
the Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries. Shares in Mantena are
not traded on or outside the public marketplaces.

Deviation from the Code: None

SECTION 6 GENERAL MEETINGS

The general meeting is the company's supreme authority. The
State as owner exercises its ownership influence at the company's
general meeting.

Notice

The annual general meeting is held every year before the end
of June. Notice of the general meeting is sent out no later than
14 days before the general meeting. The Board of Directors is
responsible for giving notice of the general meeting.

Because Mantena is 100 per cent owned by the State, through
the Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries, the NUES Code

of Practice relating to the publication of notices and briefing
documents on the company’s website is not considered relevant.

Participation

Along with representatives from the Ministry of Trade, Industry and
Fisheries, the general meeting is attended by the Chairman of the
Board and the Managing Director/CEQD. Mantena's external auditor
also attends.

The Auditor General of Norway is notified of the general meeting
and has the right to be present. The company dees not require all of
the directors to be present at the general meeting, but the whole of
the Board including employee representatives are invited and have
the opportunity to attend.

Conduct of the meeting
The general meeting is opened by the Chairman of the Board, The
general meeting elects a chairperson for the meeting.

Minutes of the general meeting are made available onthe
company’s website.

Deviation from the Code: Because of the type of ownership, several
of the sections inthe NUES Code of Practice are not considered
relevant to this point. Mor is there any requirement has been made
for all Board members to be present at the general meeting.

SECTION 7 NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The State as sole owner has the right to elect the shareholder-
elected board members. The company therefore does not have
nomination committee.

Deviation from the Code: The company does not have a nomination
committee.

SECTION 8 BOARD OF DIRECTORS - COMPOSITION AND
INDEPENDENCE

The State as owner is not represented in Mantena's governing
bodies. One of the most important tasks for the Stote as owneris
therefore to ensure that the company has a competent board of
directors with the right expertise, which is also able to handle the
strategic challenges facing the company at all times.

As of 31.12.2021, Mantena has a total of eight Board members, of
whom five are chosen by the sharehclders and three by employees.
The Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries chooses the
shareholder-elected Board members. Board members are normally
elected for two years. Elections for employee representatives are
held every 2 years.

The employees have three representatives on the Board. Five
deputies to these representatives have also been elected. In
response to recent demands frem the trade unions, employee
representatives have been elected by proportional representation,
where lists are voted on instead of individual candidates.

The Board members elected by the employees become

full directors with the same rights and responsibilities as

the shareholder-elected Board members. The employee
representatives represent all employees of the compary and are
elected for two years.

Senior executives are not members of the Board of Directors. All
members of the Board are independent of senior executives and
significant business associates. The recommendation that two
directors should be independent of the main shareholder is not
considered relevant.

The company’s annual report states the number of board meetings

held during the financial year and the competence of the board
members.
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Deviation from the Code: Because the company is wholly-owned
by the State, there are sections in the Code of Practice that are not
considered relevant to Mantena. It is not stated how many board
meetings each board member has ottended. Otherwise, there are
no deviations.

SECTION 9 WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Morwegian Limited Liability Companies Act,
there is a clear division of roles between the owner, the Board of
Directors and the general manager.

The Board of Directars has overall responsibility for the
management of the company. This means, ameng other things,
that the Board of Directors establishes the Group's overall
objectives and strategy and ensures that the company’s activities
are properly organised at all times by establishing the main
principles for its this organisation, including ensuring that the
administration has sufficient funds and sufficiently qualified
personnel to ensure proper management. Matters of significant
strategic or financial importance are dealt with by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors must ensure that the Group has
sufficient equity at all times to cover the risk and the size of the
company within the Group.

The Board of Directors appoints and dismisses the Managing
Director/CEQ and determines his/her remuneration.

The instructions adopted for the Board provide more detailed rules
on the Board's work and procedures within the framewerk of the
Nerwegian Limited Liability Companies Act and the company's
articles of association. The Board instructions include provisions
regulating the Board's work and procedural rules.

The Board of Directors has issued o separate instruction on the
Managing Director/CEO's duties and cbligations to the Board.

It is the responsibility of the person elected to chair the general
meeting to ensure that all relevant matters incumbent on the Board
are dealt with at the appropriate time. A Board member or the
Managing Directorf/CEO may ask for the Board to consider certain
matters.

The Chairman of the Board, in consultation with the Managing
Director/CEQ, will prepares the matters to be submitted to the
Board.

A minimum of six Board meetings must be held each year. In 2021,
19 Board meetings were held.

The Board of Directars checks for possible conflicts of interest at
the start of each Board meeting.

According to the Board instructions, a Board member may not

participate in discussions or decisions on questions of importance
to him/herself or to any close associate of the member who may
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be deemed to have a strong personal or financial interest in the
matter. The Board of Directors has a particular focus on following
up possible conflicts of interest.

The Board of Directors carries out an annual evaluation of its wark
and competence.

A board committee for hiring of new Managing Director/CEQ and a
board committee for finance were established in 2021

Deviations from the Code: None

SECTION 10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERMAL CONTROL
Risk management and good control systems are an integral part of
Mantena's business. The company's internal control routines should
make it possible to identify and manage risk, provide for effective
aond targeted management of operations, ond ensure good quality
of the Group's external and internal financial reporting. Improving
internal control routines is a continuous process.

The company has common processes and procedures documented
in Mantena’s management system. For each process, a process
owner has been identified, who is responsible for documentation of
the processes, ongoing improvement work and anchering.

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the company
has satistfactory control procedures and systems in place for risk
management in light of the scope and nature of the company’s
activities. In this connection, the Board of Directors receives an
annual review of the company's most important risk areas and
imternal control procedures.

Mantena is certified according to NS-EN 1SO 14001:2015
Environmental Management Systemns. All activities in Mantena
must be carried out with a view to protecting the environment and
preventing or mitigating adverse environmental impacts. Mantena
is also certified according to NS-EN IS0 9001:2015 Quality
Management Systems, and meets international reguirements for
good quality management. The comparny's management system
for guality and envirenmental management is process-oriented

and emphasises ongoing improvements and customer satisfaction.

It is adapted to all business processes thot affect quality and
environmental management. Mantena’s ISO certifications include
all business areas and apply to the entire company.

Risk management in Mantena

Mantena's risk management aims to help optimise the company's
value creation and growth. Risk assessments should capture o
comprehensive picture of risk related both to changes in external
conditions and to the internal operation and development of the
company.

Financial reporting
Mantena has decided on uniform accounting principles for every
business area. The reporting complies with the standards laid down
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by the Morwegian Accounting Standards Board (NRS). Mantena is
also guided by the approved tax policy published on the comparny's
website.

Responsibility for Mantena's financial reporting is split between
the central Finance department, separate finance functions in the
business areas and the Accounting department. Central Finance
decides and follows up on commen accounting principles, receives
reports and haondles consclidation. The business areas prepare
maonthly written reports with comments.

Monthly consclidated financial statements are prepared, with
income statement, annual ferecast, balance sheet and cash flow
analysis for the Group, and presented to Group management and
the Board of Directors.

Deviation from the Code: None

SECTION 11 REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The general meeting determines the remunerotion of the members
of the Board of Directors. Remuneration of Board members is not
performonce-based, There are no share option schemes for Board
members or onyene else in Mantenao,

Deviations from the Code: None

SECTION 12 REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE PERSONNEL
Martena follows the government’s guidelines in determining
compensation to senior executives.

The Board's staterment on the determination of salaries and
other remuneration to senior executives is shown in a note to the
consolidated financial statements, which are available on the
company's website.

The main objective of the company’s executive pay policy is that
management salaries inthe company should be competitive but
tend towards moderation in not being a leader in terms of pay
compared to similar companies.

Remuneration to senior executives mainly comprises a fixed

salary which is normally adjusted once a year. Mantena has a
bonus scheme for the Managing Director/CEQ. There are no option
schemes or programmes for distributing shares to employees in
Mantena.

Benefits to the Managing Director/CEC and senior executives are
itermised and gquantified in a note to the consoclidated financial

statements.

Deviations from the Code: None

SECTION 13 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
Mantena publishes annual accounts on the company's website
www.mantena.crg.

Martena does not have securities troded on o stock exchange

or other public marketplace and is thus not subject to the
requirements for information and communication in the Securities
Trading Act and the Stock Exchange Regulations. The Boord of
Directors has therefore judged that there is no need for guidelines
for reporting the company's results and other infermation or for
conmtact with shareholders outside the general meeting.

Deviation from the Code: In view of its ownership and the fact that
the company is not subject to the requirements of the Securities
Trading Act and the Stock Exchange Regulations, this section is
not considered relevant to Mantena.

SECTION 14 TAKE-OVERS

Becouse the company is 100 per cent owned by the Norwegian
State, the Board of Directors of Mantena has not yet found it
necessary to draw up any guiding principles for how it should act in
the event of a takeover bid.

Deviations from the Code: The Board of Directors has not yet
found it necessary to draw up any guiding principles for how it will
act in the event of a takeover bid.

SECTION 15 AUDITOR

The general meeting elects the company’s auditor. To appoint the
company's auditor, the administration makes a recommendation
to the Board of Directors, and the resolution of the Board forms
the basis for decision by the general meeting. The company’s
appeinted auditor is Deloitte AS.

The auditor holds a meeting with the Board of Directors at least
once a year to review the company’s financial situation. The
auditer attends the company’s general meeting.

Each year, the auditor provides the Board of Directors with
written confirmation thot the auditor meets the requirements

for independence. It is stated in a note to the accounts how the
auditer’s remuneration is broken down between regular audits and
various additional services.

Guidelines have been laid down for the general manager to make
use of other services from the quditor.

Deviation from the Code: None.
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Mantena AS, which comprise:

*  The financial statements of the parent company Mantena AS (the Company), which comprise the balance sheet
as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and

*  The consolidated financial statements of Mantena AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:

s the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian
Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and

* the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian
Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (I1SAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations and
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information in the Board of
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The ather information comprises
information in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the information in the Board of Directors' report nor the other
information accompanying the financial statements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility Is to read the Board of Directors’ report
and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to consider if there is material
inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial
statements and the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’
report and the other infarmation accompanying the financial statements otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. We are required to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the
other information accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report

Deloitte refers 1o one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmato Limied (*DTTL"), its global netwsrk of member firms, and their related entities Regisrernt | Foretaksregisterst Medlemmer au Den
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s 5 consistent with the financial statements and
» contains the information required by applicable legal requirements.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group's
ahility to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. The financial
staterments use the going concern basis of accounting insafar as it is not likely that the enterprise will cease
operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our ohjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
1545 will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and cbtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from errar, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's or the Group's internal control.

»  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

* conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to medify our apinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

»  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves a true and fair view.

* obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Oslo, 25 March 2022
Deloitte AS

Eivind Skaug
State Authorised Public Accountant

Nate: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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Mantena

Always moving forward
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